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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATING RESULTS
BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s operations are divided into two identifiable business segments, namely, the money lending segment and the
trading of goods and commodities segment. The money lending segment refers to the money lending business in Hong
Kong which is conducted by Ban Loong Finance Company Limited (“Ban Loong Finance”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company which is a licensed money lender in Hong Kong. The trading of goods and commodities segment refers
to (i) e-commerce trading business and (ii) raw materials trading business for healthcare products which includes the
sourcing of packaging materials, pharmacy and cosmetics CBD isolates, plant extracts, etc. and then reselling of the
products to the PRC corporate customers that are engaged in the manufacturing of cosmetics and healthcare products
and the respective packaging materials.

Money lending segment

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (“2021/22”), the money lending segment reported revenue of approximately HK$0.5
million, a significant decrease from the approximately HK$87.8 million reported for the year ended 31 March 2021
(“2020/21"). This segment also reported a segment loss of approximately HK$469.4 million for 2021/22, contrasting
with the segment profit of approximately HK$73.5 million recognised for 2020/21.

The revenue generated from the money lending segment represented approximately 0.27% of the Group’s total revenue
for 2021/22, down from 7.21% for 2020/21. This notable decrease in revenue was primarily attributable to scaling down
of operations in this segment.

The reported loss in the money lending segment was mainly due to the net allowance for Expected Credit Losses (“ECL”)
on loan and interest receivables, which amounted to approximately HK$467.0 million for 2021/22, significantly higher
than the approximately HK$10.8 million reported for 2020/21.

As required under Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 9 Financial Instruments, the Group performed impairment
assessment under ECL model on loan and interest receivables as at 31 March 2022. Key inputs used for measuring the
ECL are the probability of default, the magnitude of the loss if there is default and the exposure of the Group at default.

Up to the date of this report, all of the outstanding loans were overdue. Although the Company had fully made provision
over the overdue loans, the Group had already taken legal actions against certain debtors and/or their guarantors to
recover the overdue loans.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Trading of goods and commodities segment

The trading of goods and commodities segment was mainly consisted of the e-commerce trading business and raw
material trading business.

The Group’s e-commerce trading business is primarily operated by selling products bearing third-party brands, which
are sourced and procured from overseas suppliers and sold to renowned online planforms, such as VIP.com, JD.com,
and Tmall. The Company constantly communicates with its customers, being mainly the e-commerce trading platforms,
to understand their demand of products. In the meantime, the Company reviews its inventory and/or seeks quotations
from its extensive network of suppliers, and may place purchase orders according to suitable market situations, which
are nevertheless constantly changing, within the context of the Company’s supply capabilities. Once a receipt of order
from the Company’s customer is confirmed, the Company will (i) assure supply quantity and quality, from existing
inventories and/or from a number of different suppliers; (i) arrange for respective payments to the suppliers where
appropriate; (i) use own or third-party warehouse to receive the ordered goods from the Company’s suppliers, and
deploy own team or appoint third party to conduct quality inspection; (iv) facilitate the delivery of the products to the
Company’s customers; (v) arrange the products to go through customs inspection and clearance where appropriate;
(vi) facilitate relevant customers services including but not limited to after-sales services; (vii) cooperate with business
partners and formulate further marketing and sales of relevant products, and monitor the sales trend for such products;
and (viii) the Company usually receives the payments from the e-commerce platforms within the credit period on each
sales after the delivery of ordered goods. Learning from the past experiences and by recruiting new management team
and members, the Group’s trading teams possessed better understanding on the market on the branded cosmetic and
healthcare products, assisting the management’s sourcing decision which was beneficial to the Group’s profitability.

The Group commenced its hemp CBD raw materials trading and CBD isolate business in 2019. As a natural expansion
of its CBD trading business, the Group has been engaged in the sourcing of raw materials for manufacturing since
early 2022, which involved the supply of other plant extracts and raw materials for cosmetics and healthcare products,
including packaging materials, sorbitol, steviol glycoside, lauric acid, CBD materials, glycerin etc. to existing and
potential customers in the healthcare and cosmetics industry. As a modest extension of the services previously offered
by the Group, the Group no longer passively sources products required by its customers, but takes on a more active
role in serving its existing and potential customers in respect of their supply chain. In view of the growth of demand for
healthcare products and the knowledge and experience of the Group’s management team on sourcing of raw materials
of healthcare products, the management was confident that the trading of raw materials of healthcare products would
provide a contribution to the Group’s profitability.

For 2021/22, the Group’s trading of goods and commodities segment recorded a total revenue of approximately
HK$179.0 million (2020/21: approximately HK$1,128.9 million). The decrease of revenue was primarily attributable by
the suspension on operation of Wan Long Shenzhen during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROSPECTS

According to General Administration of Customs of People’s Republic of China, China’s cross-border e-commerce
imports and exports climbed 15% year-on-year to RMB1.98 trillion in 2021. The scale of the cross-border e-commerce
market with expected growth in the coming years provides great opportunities for the e-commerce trading business of
the Group. The management will continuously strengthen the sourcing network and the understanding on the market
trend, taking better advantages of market opportunities from China.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

For 2021/22, the Group’s general and administrative expenses (which mainly comprises legal and professional fees, staff
salaries, directors’ fees and depreciation of right-of-use assets) amounted to approximately HK$48.2 million (2020/21:
approximately HK$45.8 million), represented a slightly increase of 5.2%. The increase was principally due to the increase
in staff costs from approximately HK$15.6 million in 2020/21 to approximately HK$16.9 million.

FINANCE COSTS

For 2021/22 and 2020/21 (restated), finance costs of approximately HK$3.9 million and approximately HK$6.5 million
were incurred respectively. This reduction was primarily attributable to a decrease in interest payments from approximately
HK$4.3 million for 2020/21 (restated) to approximately HK$0.3 million for 2021/22 in respect of the bonds. This decrease
in interest payments was a result of the full repayment of these bonds during the reporting period.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

For 2021/22, income tax expenses of approximately HK$3.4 million (2020/21 (restated): approximately HK$8.2 million)
were incurred. The decrease in the income tax expenses was principally due to the adjusted loss generated from the
money lending segment for 2021/22. Among these, a deferred tax expenses of HK$2.2 million (2020/21 (restated):
deferred tax credits of approximately HK$1.8 million) was recognised for 2021/22.

LOSS PER SHARE

For 2021/22, the basic and diluted loss per share amounted to 17.33 HK cents, as compared to the basic and diluted
loss per share of 0.95 HK cents in 2020/21 (restated), mainly resulted from the decrease in gross profit and the increase
in net allowance for ECL.

FINANCIAL POSITION

The shareholders’ equity decreased from approximately HK$1,309.7 million as at 31 March 2021 (restated) to approximately
HK$203.2 million as at 31 March 2022. Total assets decreased by 77.7% from approximately HK$1,442.6 million as
at 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$321.8 million as at 31 March 2022 which was mainly due to the net allowance
for ECL of approximately HK$1,043.4 million for 2021/22.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to HK$203.9 million (31 March 2021: approximately
HK$251.2 million). As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a convertible bond with carrying amount of approximately HK$13.8
million (31 March 2021 (restated): approximately HK$25.6 million) with coupon rate of 3% per-annum. The interest expenses
for the year are calculated by applying an effective interest rate of 16.48% to the liability component for 2-year period since
the convertible bond were issued. The gearing ratio of the Group is 6.8% as at 31 March 2022 (31 March 2021 (restated):
3.5%), which is calculated by the total interest-bearing borrowings divided by the net assets of the Group.

5
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINAL DIVIDEND
The board (the “Board”) of the directors (the “Directors”) of the Company did not propose a final dividend for 2021/22
(2020/21: HK$nil).

SHARE CAPITAL AND FUND-RAISING ACTIVITIES
As at 31 March 2022, the total number of issued ordinary shares (the “Shares”) of the Company was 6,448,152,160
shares (31 March 2021: 6,448,152,160 shares).

In October 2020, the Company issued a convertible bond to Yunnan Baiyao Group with a principal of HK$500 million with
a net proceeds of approximately HK$498 million, equivalent to a net price of approximately HK$0.257 (the “Subscription”)
in order to provide financial resources for exploring opportunities to diversify the businesses. A total of 1,937,984,496
ordinary shares of nominal value of HK$0.01 per share could be converted and issued at conversion price of HK$0.258
per share upon maturity. The closing price per share on the date of the subscription agreement (being 14 October
2019) was HK$0.260. Please refer to the circular of the Company dated 11 September 2020 for further details. As at 31
March 2022, approximately HK$396 million of the Subscription proceeds had been used from the date of Subscription
in accordance with its intended use as stated in the circular of the Company dated 11 September 2020 (for further
details in relation to the use of proceeds, please refer to the breakdown set out in the paragraph below), and the unused

balance of the Subscription proceeds was approximately HK$102 million.

Difference Unused
between the balance
planned from
Utilised allocation net the net
amount proceeds and proceeds
Planned up to actual usage as at
use of 31 March of the net 31 March
proceeds 2022 proceeds 2022
HK$' million  HK$’ million  HK$’ million  HK$’ million
(Note 1) (Note 2)
Expansion of existing trading business in 100 100 - -
cosmetics and personal care products
Expansion of CBD-based cosmetics and 90 58 (32) 15
personal care product trading business
Purchase of CBD isolate inventory for 20 15 - 5
trading purpose
Setting up of hemp cultivation and extraction 70 - - 70
and trading
Expansion of CBD-related target business 40 - (13) 27
Expansion of existing money lending business 50 43 (7) -
Repayment of bonds issued by the Company 70 70 - -
in 2014
Repayment of interests derived from the - 28 28 -
Convertible Bonds
General working capital 58 82 24 -
Total 498 396 - 102
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SHARE CAPITAL AND FUND-RAISING ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED)

Note 1

In light of the recent changes in the government policies with respect to the public discussion on ban of CBD products in Hong Kong and the overall
market environment, the Company has reallocated its net proceeds from “expansion of CBD-based cosmetics and personal care product trading business”
to “Repayment of interests derived from the Convertible Bonds”. In particular, the Company allocated approximately HK$28 million of its net proceed to
the repayment of interests derived from the Convertible Bonds and allocated approximately HK$24 million to its general working capital.

Note 2
As at 31 March 2022, the Company had no further plan to change the application of the remaining net proceeds for the purpose as disclosed. The
Company intends to fully utilised the net proceeds from the Subscription by 31 March 2024.

FUNDING AND TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopts prudent treasury policies. The Group’s management performs an ongoing credit evaluation of the
financial conditions of its customers in order to reduce the Group’s exposure of credit risk. In addition to these ongoing
credit evaluations, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the
Group’s assets, liabilities and commitments can meet its funding requirements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

For the details of events after the reporting period, please refer to note 42 to the consolidated financial statements in
this report.

PLEDGE AND/OR CHARGED OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022, no assets of the Group were pledged and/or charged to secure general banking facilities granted
to the Group (31 March 2021: nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 March 2022, the Group had no material capital commitments (31 March 2021: nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2022, the Group had no material contingent liabilities (31 March 2021: nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars and Renminbi, and most of
the Group’s cash balances are deposited in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars or Renminbi with banks in Hong Kong and
the PRC. Certain portion of the Group’s sales, purchases and expenses were denominated in foreign currencies which
exposed the Group to foreign currency risk. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy as the
foreign currency risk is considered not significant. The Group has not used any financial instruments for hedging purpose
for 2021/22 (2020/21: Nil). However, the management will continue to closely monitor the Group’s foreign exchange
risk exposure and may consider hedging significant foreign exchange exposure if and when necessary.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Other details of the activities during the year as regulated by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), including a fair review of the business and a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties
the Group is facing, particulars of the events affecting the Group that have occurred since the financial year ended
31 March 2022, and an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business, can be found in the section of
Management Discussion and Analysis.

7
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

COMMODITY PRICE RISK

The price of commodity products is influenced by international and domestic market prices and changes in global supply
and demand for such products. Both the international and domestic market price of commodities as well as the volatility
of their supply and demand are beyond the control of the Company. Therefore, the volatility of commodity price may
affect the revenue and comprehensive income of the Group. The Group did not engage in nor enter into any trading
contracts and price arrangements to hedge the risk of volatility of commodity prices.

EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 35 employees (31 March 2021: 33 employees). For 2021/22, the total salaries,
commissions, incentives and all other staff related costs amounted to approximately HK$16.9 million (2020/21:
approximately HK$15.6 million). Our remuneration policies are in line with prevailing market practices and formulated
on the basis of the performance and experience of individual employees. Apart from basic salaries, other staff benefits
included provident funds and medical insurance. On-job training and regular seminars related to the employee’s duties
were provided during the year. The Company may also grant share options to eligible employees to motivate their
performance and contribution to the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any significant investments, acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

There was no specific plan for material investments or capital assets as at 31 March 2022. In the event that the Group
is engaged in any plan for material investments or capital assets, the Company will make announcement(s) and comply
with relevant rules under the Listing Rules as and when appropriate.

THE MANAGEMENT POSITION, VIEW AND ASSESSMENT ON THE DISCLAIMER
OF OPINION AND ACTIONS TO BE TAKEN BY THE GROUP

The following sets for the management’s position, view and assessment on the disclaimer of opinion and where
appropriate, actions to be taken by the Group to address the disclaimer of opinion (“Disclaimer of Opinion”) included in
the auditor’s report of Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited (“Zhonghui Anda”) in respect of the financial statements of the Group:

Basis 1: Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 March 2022

Due to the departure of certain former key management personnel who were responsible for the operational, financial
and accounting matters in 2022, whom the Group were unable to contact and communicate with, Zhonghui Anda was
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence (i.e. delivery documents) to satisfy their as to the occurrence,
accuracy, completeness and cutoff of the revenue transactions recognised by the subsidiary of the Company, Wan Long
Xing Ye Commercial Trading (Hong Kong) Limited, of HK$152,578,693 for the year ended 31 March 2022 (“Trading
Transactions”). As a result, Zhonghui Anda was unable to determine whether any adjustments might have been found
necessary in respect of the Trading Transactions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THE MANAGEMENT POSITION, VIEW AND ASSESSMENT ON THE DISCLAIMER
OF OPINION AND ACTIONS TO BE TAKEN BY THE GROUP (CONTINUED)

Basis 2: Trade receivables

Due to the departure of certain former key management personnel who were responsible for the operational, financial
and accounting matters in 2022, whom the Group were unable to contact and communicate with, Zhonghui Anda was
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy themselves as to the existence, rights and obligations,
completeness and valuation of the trade receivables amounted to RMB25,432,050 (equivalent to HK$31,334,320) as
at 31 March 2022 and of which impairment loss of RMB10,968,069 (equivalent to HK$13,524,078) was made during
the year ended 31 March 2022. There are no other satisfactory audit procedures that Zhonghui Anda could adopt
to determine whether any adjustments might have been found necessary in respect of the trade receivables and the
impairment losses made for the year.

Basis 3: Other receivables, deposits and prepayments

Due to the departure of certain former key management personnel who were responsible for the operational, financial
and accounting matters in 2022, whom the Group were unable to contact and communicate with, Zhonghui Anda was
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy themselves as to the existence, rights and obligations,
completeness and valuation of the other receivables, deposits and prepayments amounted to HK$563,777,772, which
was fully impaired during the year ended 31 March 2022. There are no other satisfactory audit procedures that Zhonghui
Anda could adopt to determine whether any adjustments might have been found necessary in respect of the other
receivables, deposits and prepayments and the impairment losses made for the year.

Basis 4: Loan and interest receivables

Due to the departure of certain former key management personnel who were responsible for the operational, financial
and accounting matters in 2022, whom the Group were unable to contact and communicate with, Zhonghui Anda was
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy themselves as to the existence, rights and obligations,
completeness and valuation of the loan and interest receivable amounted to HK$478,842,967 which was fully impaired
and the relevant interest income during the year ended 31 March 2022. There are no other satisfactory audit procedures
that Zhonghui Anda could adopt to determine whether any adjustments might have been found necessary in respect
of the loan and interest receivables, interest income and the impairment losses made for the year.

Basis 5: Inventories

Zhonghui Anda was appointed as auditor of the Company subsequent to the Company’s end of the reporting period
of 31 March 2022. In consequence, Zhonghui Anda was unable to attend the Group’s physical count of inventories as
at that date. The Group has not maintained sufficient stock records for us to verify the carrying amount of inventories
of HK$6,794,775 as at that date. Zhonghui Anda was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy
themselves as to the existence, quantities and conditions of the inventories. In addition, impairment of inventories
amounted to HK$18,651,927 was made during the year ended 31 March 2022. There are no other satisfactory audit
procedures that Zhonghui Anda could perform to determine whether the impairment was properly recorded.

9
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THE MANAGEMENT POSITION, VIEW AND ASSESSMENT ON THE DISCLAIMER
OF OPINION AND ACTIONS TO BE TAKEN BY THE GROUP (CONTINUED)

Basis 6: Trade and other payables

Due to the departure of certain former key management personnel who were responsible for the operational, financial
and accounting matters in 2022, whom the Group were unable to contact and communicate with, Zhonghui Anda was
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy themselves as to the existence, rights and obligations,
completeness and valuation of the trade and other payables amounted to HK$19,612,191 as at 31 March 2022. There
are no other satisfactory audit procedures that Zhonghui Anda could adopt to determine whether any adjustments might
have been found necessary in respect of the trade and other payables.

Basis 7: Revenue and cost of sales reversed during the year ended 31 March 2022

Due to the departure of certain former key management personnel who were responsible for the operational, financial
and accounting matters in 2022, whom the Group were unable to contact and communicate with, Zhonghui Anda was
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy themselves as to the appropriateness of the revenue
and cost of sales transactions reversed by the subsidiary of the Company, Wan Long Xing Ye Commercial Trading
(Shenzhen) Limited (“Wan Long Shenzhen”), of RMB486,940,670 (equivalent to HK$599,079,217) and RMB482,375,607
(equivalent to HK$594,788,870), respectively, for the year ended 31 March 2022 (“Reversed Transactions”). As a result,
Zhonghui Anda was unable to determine whether any adjustments might have been found necessary in respect of the
Reversed Transactions.

Basis 8: Insufficient accounting records of Wan Long Shenzhen

As advised by the board of directors, since the departure of certain former key management personnel who were
responsible for the operational, financial and accounting matters of Wan Long Shenzhen in 2022, whom the Group were
unable to contact and communicate with, Wan Long Shenzhen has retained the basic business records, including but
not limited to management accounts, ledgers and sub-ledgers accounts, certain vouchers, bank statements, certain
agreements and documentation (collectively referred to as the “Basic Records”), that were left behind by the former
management and accounting departments of Wan Long Shenzhen as far as possible. The Basic Records were not
considered to be of a sufficient level for our audit purposes. More specific business records and supporting explanations
of Wan Long Shenzhen’s accounting records were needed for our audit, including but not limited to, (i) certain supporting
documents of certain business transactions, such as invoices, receipts and purchase orders; (i) detailed explanation
of the accounting entries made (collectively, the “Specific Records”).

In the absence of the Specific Records of the Wan Long Shenzhen following the departure of certain former key
management personnel in 2022, the board of directors considered that they could only use their best endeavor to
preserve the books and records that were left behind by the former management and the accounting departments and
they were unable to determine whether these Specific Records were complete in the first place, and they had no other
access to such Specific Records despite they have taken all reasonable steps and have used their best endeavor to
locate such Specific Records.

As a result of the above matters, in addition to Basis 2, 3, 6 and 7, Zhonghui Anda have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to ascertain whether the income and expenses for the year ended 31 March 2022 and the
assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2022 of Wan Long Shenzhen, as detailed below, and other related disclosure
notes in relation to Wan Long Shenzhen, as included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group, have been
accurately recorded and properly accounted for in the consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THE MANAGEMENT POSITION, VIEW AND ASSESSMENT ON THE DISCLAIMER

OF OPINION AND ACTIONS TO BE TAKEN BY THE GROUP (CONTINUED)

Basis 8: Insufficient accounting records of Wan Long Shenzhen (Continued)

Extract of Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the For the
year ended year ended
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
Revenue - 905,978,827
Cost of sales - (908,182,507)
Other income, gains and losses (2,531,055) 680,163
Net allowance for expected credit losses = (1,063,568)
Selling and distribution costs (2,505,411) (2,418,259)
Administrative expenses (5,430,621) (3,994,127)
Finance costs - (294,407)
Income tax expense - (251,608)
Extract of Statement of Financial Position
As at As at
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
Non-current asset 2,116,262 1,138,247
Current assets
Trade receivables - 7,561,423
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 45,113,959 262,369,895
Other current assets 717,560 11,460,324
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables - 18,635,666
Contract liabilities 37,697,717 33,866,293
Other current liabilities 1,593,257 726,600

11

Accordingly, Zhonghui Anda was unable to determine whether any adjustments might have been found necessary in
respect of recorded or unrecorded transactions and the elements making up the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of financial position, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THE MANAGEMENT POSITION, VIEW AND ASSESSMENT ON THE DISCLAIMER
OF OPINION AND ACTIONS TO BE TAKEN BY THE GROUP (CONTINUED)

Basis 9: Opening balance and the comparative information

As described in the preceding basis, in addition to basis 8, due to the absence of sufficient supporting documents and
more detailed explanations in relation to the accounting records in connection to the opening balances and comparative
information made available to board of directors, Zhonghui Anda was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
over the account balances including other receivables, deposits and prepayments of HK$549,776,957, loan and interest
receivables of HK$529,709,844, inventories of HK$16,343,625 as at 31 March 2021 and the transactions including
revenue of HK$222,728,910 and notes to financial statements of the Group and Company for the year then ended.
Any adjustments that might have been found necessary to the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 would have a consequential effect on the Group’s consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2022.

The management position, view and assessment

The basis set out under Basis 1 & 7 giving rise to the Disclaimer of Opinion on the 2021/2022 Financial Statements
was related to statement of profits and loss for FY2021/2022, therefore, it should not have any carry forward impact
to the results for FY2022/2023. However, as the consolidated financial statements for FY2022/2023 will include the
results for FY2021/2022 as comparative figures, it is unavoidable that the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for FY2022/2023 will include the same basis set out under Basis 1&7 giving rise to the Disclaimer of Opinion
on the 2021/2022 Financial Statements. Having considered that the business leading to the failure to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence as stated in Basis 1&7 have been suspended before 31 March 2023, the Company is of the
view that, barring unforeseen circumstances which may arise after the date hereof over the relevant items, the basis as
set out under Basis 1&7 giving rise to the Disclaimer of Opinion on the 2021/2022 Financial Statements will be removed
in the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the nine months ended 31 December 2023 (“FY2023”), and
accordingly, such basis for the Disclaimer on Opinion on the 2022/2023 Financial Statements will be properly addressed
in the consolidated financial statements of the Company on FY2023.

The basis set out under Basis 2 to 6 giving rise to the Disclaimer of Opinion on the 2021/2022 Financial Statements
was developed based on the matters identified in 2021/2022 Financial Statements. Zhonghui Anda was unable to draw
comfort on the closing balances of the relevant account items and the impairment losses made contained in the 2021/2022
Financial Statement. However, as the consolidated financial statements for FY2022/2023 will include closing balances
for FY2021/2022 as comparative figures, it is unavoidable that the consolidated financial statements of the Company
for FY2022/2023 will include the same basis set out under Basis 2 to 6 giving rise to the Disclaimer of Opinion on the
2021/2022 Financial Statements. Having considered that (i) Wan Long Shenzhen has suspended its business before
31 March 20283; and (ii) appropriate provisions/impairment losses and adjustments have been made in the Financial
Statements based on the information available, the Company is of the view that, barring unforeseen circumstances
which may arise after the date hereof over the relevant items, the basis as set out under Basis 2 to 6 giving rise to the
Disclaimer of Opinion on the 2021/2022 Financial Statements will be removed in the consolidated financial statements
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024”), and accordingly, such basis for the 2021/2022
Financial Statements will be properly addressed in the consolidated financial statements of the Company on FY2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THE MANAGEMENT POSITION, VIEW AND ASSESSMENT ON THE DISCLAIMER
OF OPINION AND ACTIONS TO BE TAKEN BY THE GROUP (CONTINUED)

The management position, view and assessment (Continued)

The basis set out under Basis 8 giving rise to the Disclaimer of Opinion on the 2021/2022 Financial Statements was
developed based on the absence of sufficient accounting records of Wan Long Shenzhen. Zhonghui Anda was unable to
draw comfort on the opening and closing balances of the assets and liabilities of Wan Long Shenzhen in the 2021/2022
Financial Statements which unavoidably results in the impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Company in
the subsequent financial years. The Company had already identified a suitable way to resolve the matter and, accordingly,
such basis for the Disclaimer of Opinion on 2021/22 Financial Statements will be removed on the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2025 (“FY2025").

The basis set out under Basis 9 giving rise to the Disclaimer of Opinion on the 2021/2022 Financial Statements was
related to statement of financial position and statement of profit and loss for the year ended 31 March 2021, therefore,
it should not have any carry forward impact to the results for FY2022/2023. The Company is of the view that, barring
unforeseen circumstances which may arise after the date hereof over the relevant items, the basis as set out under Basis
9 giving rise to the Disclaimer of Opinion on the 2021/2022 Financial Statements will be removed in the consolidated
financial statements of the Company on FY2022/2023, and accordingly, such basis for the 2023 Financial Statements
will be properly addressed in the consolidated financial statements of the Company on FY2022/2023.

Based on the above, the Company is of the view that it will be able to address the basis for the Disclaimer of Opinion
expressed by Zhonghui Anda on the 2021/2022 Financial Statements, and the relevant basis for the Disclaimer of
Opinion on the 2021/2022 Financial Statements will be removed in the consolidated financial statements of the Company
as follow: (i) Basis 1 and 7 will be removed for the financial years on FY2023; (ii) Basis 2 to 6 will be removed on the
financial years of FY2024; (iii) Basis 8 will be removed on the financial years of FY2025; and Basis 9 will be removed on
the financial years on FY2022/2023.
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The Board present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is principally engaged in trading of goods and
commodities. The details of principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance indicators can be found
throughout this report. There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Other details of the activities during the year as regulated by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), including a fair review of the business and a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties
the Group is facing, particulars of the events affecting the Group that have occurred since the financial year ended
31 March 2022, and an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business, can be found in the section of
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 3 to 13.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has complied with relevant laws and regulations that have significant
impact on the operations of the Group.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit and loss
and other comprehensive income on pages 51 to 52.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 55 and note 37 to the consolidated financial statement respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company does not have any reserves available for distribution in accordance with the Bermuda Companies Act
1981 (as amended) as at 31 March 2022. In addition, the Company’s share premium account of HK$988,278,817 as
at 31 March 2022 may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares. Details of the share premium account and
reserves are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS AND BANKING FACILITIES
The Group had no outstanding bank borrowings as at 31 March 2022.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 114.



Annual Report 2021 - 2022

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board consisted of the directors as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Dong Ming (Chairman) (appointed on 17 January 2022)

Mr. Chow Wang (Deputy Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Yin Pinyao

Mr. Wang Zhaoqing (Chief Operating Officer)

Mr. Liu Zhouyang (Deputy Chief Executive Officer) (appointed on 11 February 2022)
Mr. Chu Ka Wa (resigned on 1 November 2021)

Mr. Wang Minghui (resigned on 11 February 2022)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Qian Yinghui (appointed on 11 February 2022)
Mr. Fong For (resigned on 11 February 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Jiang Zhi

Mr. Leung Ka Kui, Johnny

Ms. Wong Chui San, Susan

Up to the publication date of this report, the Board consisted of the directors as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Dong Ming (Chairman)

Mr. Tang Ming (appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 15 April 2022, appointed as Director on 19 August 2022)
Mr. Liu Zhouyang

Mr. Chow Wang (ceased as Chief Executive Officer on 15 April 2022; ceased as Director on 16 August 2022)

Mr. Wang Zhaoqing (ceased on 16 August 2022)

Mr. Yin Pinyao (resigned on 8 August 2023)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Qian Yinghui
Mr. Huang Bin (appointed on 19 August 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Dr. Cecilia Wai Bing Pang (appointed on 21 November 2023)
Dr. Cheung Hoi Yu (appointed on 21 November 2023)

Mr. Wong Hin Wing (appointed on 21 November 2023)

Mr. Jiang Zhi (resigned on 10 November 2023)

Mr. Leung Ka Kui, Johnny (resigned on 10 November 2023)
Ms. Wong Chui San, Susan (resigned on 10 November 2023)

In accordance with the Bye-law 84 of the Company’s Bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”), at each annual general meeting one-
third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at least
once every three years, Mr. Dong Ming, Mr. Qian Yinghui and Mr. Liu Zhouyang will retire from office by rotation and will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM”), notice of which will be dispatched
to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) in due course.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Company are set out on pages 22 to 26 of this report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance
and comparable market practices.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”), an annual confirmation of
his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and considers that all of the INEDs are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM have a service contract with the Company which was not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of
the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save for the share option scheme adopted by the Company described below, the Group has not entered into any
equity-linked agreements during the year.

NEW SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The old share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 27 March 2002 for a period of ten years and expired
on 26 March 2012. In order to continue to provide the Company with a flexible means of giving incentive to eligible
participants to recognize and acknowledge the contributions that eligible participants made or may make to the Group,
a new share option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) has been approved by the shareholders at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 30 September 2013 (the “Adoption Date”), the Directors may, at their discretion,
invite any participants to take up options to subscribe for fully paid ordinary shares in the Company subject to the terms
and conditions stipulated therein.

The New Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for ten years and will expire on 29 September 2023. From the
Adoption Date up to 31 March 2022, no option has been granted. Save for the New Share Option Scheme, the Company
does not have any other share option scheme as at 31 March 2022.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than the New Share Option Scheme disclosed above, at no time during the year were the rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or Chief Executive of
the Company or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company and its subsidiaries a party or any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS
No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company,
its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies was party and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Except as disclosed in the “Connected Transactions” and “Continuing Connected Transactions”, there were no contracts
of significance between the listed issuer, or one of its subsidiary companies, and a controlling shareholder or any of
its subsidiaries, and there were no contract of significance for the provision of services to the listed issuer or any of
its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 3 December 2021, the Company entered into an office services agreement (“Agreement”) with Yunnan Baiyao Group,
a substantial shareholder of the Company, pursuant to which the Company agreed to sublease the premises situated
at Suite 2506, 25th Floor, ICBC Tower, Three Garden Road, Hong Kong to Yunnan Baiyao Group and assist Yunnan
Baiyao Group in its daily operations of its office operation in Hong Kong, such as arranging for certain utilities supplies
and other miscellaneous services (“Sublease and Office Services”) for a term commencing from 1 December 2021 to
5 May 2022 at a monthly rent of HK$362,736.

As Yunnan Baiyao Group is the substantial shareholder of the Company, Yunnan Baiyao Group is a connected person of
the Company. Accordingly, the Agreement constitutes a continuing connected transaction on the part of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As all of the relevant percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the
transactions contemplated under the Agreement and the Sublease and Office Services, when aggregated, are, on an
annual basis, less than 5%, the Agreement and the Sublease and Office Services are subject to the reporting, annual
review and announcement requirements but are exempt from the independent Shareholders’ approval requirement
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed that it had complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 15 February 2022, the Company entered into the R&D Strategic Cooperation Agreement (“Agreement”) with Yunnan
Institute of Materia Mediea* (E& & ZE¥F 2L ) (“Yunnan Institute”), an independent legal entity wholly owned by Yunnan
Baiyao Group, pursuant to which the Company and Yunnan Institute have established a strategic cooperative relationship,
with a view to focusing on the R&D of industrial hemp-related products and to foster a long-term collaboration by
leveraging on the resources advantages of both parties.

As Yunnan Institute is an independent legal entity wholly owned by Yunnan Baiyao Group, the controlling shareholder
of the Company, Yunnan Institute is a connected person of the Company. As one or more of the applicable percentage
ratios (as defined under the Listing Rules) in respect of the transaction exceed 0.1% but are less than 5%, the transaction
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company and is subject to the reporting and announcement requirements
but exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

All the independent non-executive directors of the Company have reviewed the above continuing connected transactions
and confirmed that the transactions have been entered into:

a. inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

b. on normal commercial terms; and

*  The English name is for identification purpose only
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c. according to the agreement governing them on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

For the purpose of Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s auditors, Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited, have been
engaged to report on the continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31 March 2022 in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditors have issued their unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of
the continuing connected transactions of the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules and a copy
of the auditors’ letter has been provided to the Stock Exchange. The auditors have confirmed the above continuing
connected transactions as follows:

a. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
have not been approved by the Company’s board of directors;

b. for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group, nothing has come to their attention that
causes us to believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

c. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions; and

d. with respect to the aggregate amount of the continuing connected transactions, nothing has come to their attention
that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions disclosed above have exceeded
the annual cap as set by the Company.

The Company confirmed that it had complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in note
41 to the consolidated financial statements. None of these related party transactions constitutes a connected transaction
as defined under the Listing Rules which requires to be disclosed.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors or Chief Executive of the Company and their associates had any interest
or short position in any shares, underlying shares or debenture of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within meaning of the SFO) which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which Directors have taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of SFO); or (b) were required pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSON’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, the following persons and entities (other than a director or chief executive of the Company)
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were required to be recorded in the register of the
Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

Number of Percentage of the

Shares held total number of
Names of Shareholders Capacity (long position) issued Shares
Yunbaiyao Hong Kong Co., Limited Beneficial owner 3,101,911,000 Note 48.11%
Shanghai International Trust Corp., Trustee 1,937,984,496 Note2 30.05%
Ltd. B BBEREFEGR AR
(“Shanghai Trust”)
Yunnan Baiyao Group Co., Ltd. Beneficial owner 1,908,025,360 Mot 29.59%

(“Yunnan Baiyao Group”)

Notes:
(1) Yunbaiyao Hong Kong Co., Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Yunnan Baiyao Group.

(2)  Pursuant to the Supplemental Subscription Agreement VI entered into between the Company and Yunnan Baiyao Group. Yunnan Baiyao Group
has appointed Shanghai Trust, a qualified domestic institutional investor (“QDII”) to act as a trustee of Yunnan Baiyao Group and subscribe to and
hold the Convertible Bonds on behalf of Yunnan Baiyao Group, while Yunnan Baiyao Group will remain as the beneficial owner of the Convertible
Bonds. For further details, please refer to the announcement dated 29 October 2020.

(8)  On 14 October 2019, the Company and Yunnan Baiyao Group entered into the subscription agreement pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to issue, and Yunnan Baiyao Group has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the convertible bond in the principal amount of
HK$500,000,000 at the subscription price of HK$500,000,000. 2,829,457,364 conversion shares will be allotted and issued by the Company upon
exercise in full of the conversion rights attaching to the Convertible Bonds. On 30 October 2020 the Subscription has been completed. As at the
date of this report, there has not been exercise of any conversion bond. For further details of the Subscription, please refer to the announcements
dated 14 October 2019, 4 November 2019, 18 November 2019, 2 December 2019, 16 December 2019, 31 December 2019, 31 January 2020, 14
February 2020, 28 February 2020, 31 March 2020, 3 May 2020, 31 July 2020, 31 August 2020, 10 September 2020, 29 October 2020 and the
circular dated 11 September 2020.

Other than disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Company has not been notified of any other relevant interests or
short positions in the issued share capital of the Company which fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were required to be recorded in the register of the Company required
to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES
During the year ended 31 March 2022, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company’s listed securities.

NO PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws although there are no restrictions against such rights
under the laws of Bermuda.

RELIEF FROM TAXATION
The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the
shares of the Company.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to Bye-Law 164 of the Bye-laws and relevant provisions of the regulations stipulated, every Director or other
officer of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from
and against all losses and liabilities which he may incur or sustain in or about the execution of the duties of his office or
otherwise in relation thereto, and no Director or other officer shall be liable for any loss, damages or misfortune which
may happen to or be incurred by the Company in the execution of the duties of his office or in relation thereto, provided
that this Bye-Law shall only have effect in so far as its provisions are not avoided by the Bermuda Companies Act.

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force throughout the
financial year. The Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ and officers’ liabilities insurance throughout the
year, which provides appropriate cover for the Directors of the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of the Group’s purchases and sales for the year attributable to major suppliers and customers are as
follows:

Purchases

— the largest supplier 50.6%
— five largest suppliers combined 99.4%
Sales

— the largest customer 50.7%
— five largest customers combined 94.9%

No directors, their associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As far as the information publicly available to the Company is concerned and to the best knowledge of the Directors,
the public float of the Shares has remained above the minimum percentage required by the Stock Exchange throughout
the year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the events after the reporting period for the year are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

There were no competing business of which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31 March 2022 which is required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT 2022

The Company’s corporate governance practices, including the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”),
the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) and the remuneration committee of the Company
(the “Remuneration Committee”), are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 27 to 45 of this report.
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The Company’s ESG report has been published on the Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s websites in relation to
environmental and social activities performed in 2021/2022. For further details, please refer to the announcement on
31 August 2022.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee has reviewed with
management the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal control, risks
management and financial reporting matter, including the review of the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2022.

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgeson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”) has been the auditor of the group since 9 March 2017 until 25 April 2023.
On 25 April 2023, HLB resigned as the auditors of the Company. The Board, with the recommendation of the Audit
Committee, resolved to appoint Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited (“Zhonghui Anda”) as the auditor of the Company with
effect from 28 April 2023 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of HLB as auditor of the Company, and to
hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Dong Ming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 15 January 2024
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During the year ended 31 March 2022, the composition of the Board and senior management of the Company was as
follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Dong Ming (Chairman) (appointed on 17 January 2022)

Mr. Chow Wang (Deputy Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Yin Pinyao

Mr. Wang Zhaoqing (Chief Operating Officer)

Mr. Liu Zhouyang (Deputy Chief Executive Officer) (appointed on 11 February 2022)
Mr. Chu Ka Wa (resigned on 1 November 2021)

Mr. Wang Minghui (resigned on 11 February 2022)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Qian Yinghui (appointed on 11 February 2022)
Mr. Fong For (resigned on 11 February 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Jiang Zhi

Mr. Leung Ka Kui, Johnny

Ms. Wong Chui San, Susan

Senior Management
Mr. Luk Chi Shing (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. Chu Ka Wa (Chief Financial Officer) (Appointed on 18 October 2021, resigned on 1 November 2021)

Up to the publication date of this report, the composition of the Board and senior management of the Company is as
follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Dong Ming (“Mr. Dong”), aged 47, is and has been the chief executive officer of Yunnan Baiyao Group Co., Ltd.* (&
A ZEE D AR A a) (“Yunnan Baiyao Group”) since 4 March 2021. Mr. Dong obtained a bachelor degree in industrial
automation from Northeastern University* (824t KX£2) in the PRC in July 1999. Before joining Yunnan Baiyao Group,
Mr. Dong engaged in various positions at Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd.* (& # 1T A R A 7)) (‘Huawei Technologies”)
during 1999 to 2021, including technical engineer, department heads of various departments, including the landline
network marketing department of Xi’an Representative Office, landline network product marketing department of the
Eastern Europe Region, VIP system department and the mobile system department, vice president of the Region of
Commonwealth of Independent State and Huawei Technologies as well as the general manager of the Beijing Branch.

Mr. Dong has been appointed as executive Director, the Authorised Representative and Process Agent of the Company
with effect from 17 January 2022. Furthermore, Mr. Dong has been appointed as the chairman of the Board and the
chairman of the nomination committee of the Company with effect from 11 February 2022. With effect from 5 September
2022, Mr. Dong ceased to be the Authorised Representative of the Company.
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Mr. Liu Zhouyang (“Mr. Liu”), aged 37, has been the deputy chief executive officer of the Company since 12 November
2021 and the general manager of Hainan Yunfan Private Equity Fund Management Co., Ltd.* (§EENFLEE & EIE
ABR/A 7). Mr. Liu obtained a bachelor’s degree in e-commence from Hunan Agricultural University* (95 & 3 A 2)
in 2009 and a master’s degree in national economics in Kunming University of Science and Technology* (ER8FIE T K
&) in the PRC in 2012. Mr. Liu engaged in various positions at Yunnan Baiyao Group since 2013, including project
manager of the centre of operation management, the project manager of the general office of the strategic committee,
the investment relations specialist of securities department, the head of the general office of the general manager and
the assistant of general manager of the investment department.

Mr. Liu has been appointed as an executive Director with effect from 11 February 2022. Mr. Liu was appointed as the
Authorised Representative and the Process Agent of the Company from 20 April 2022 to 29 November 2023.

Mr. Tang Ming (“Mr. Tang”), aged 49, has been appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company since April
2022. Mr. Tang obtained a bachelor’s degree in electronic engineering from Tianjin University of Technology and a
master’s degree in business administration from Cornell University in the USA. Prior to joining the Company, he worked
as a vice president of intelligent automotive solution business unit Europe region, head of consulting services of enterprise
business group Europe region, at Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd* (2 & fli G R A 7)) from July 2016 to January 2022.

Mr. Tang has been further appointed as an executive Director with effect from 10 August 2022. With effect from 5
September 2022, Mr. Tang has also been appointed as the Authorised Representative of the Company. With effect
from 3 February 2023, Mr. Tang has been appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Huang Bin (“Mr. Huang”), aged 58, obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering from Harbin Engineering
University and had subsequently attended visiting scholar program from European Economic Community and business
management courses from Northwestern University in the United States. Mr. Huang is a director of CITIC International
Assets Management Limited (F{E B & EE A R A 7)) and its subsidiaries such as Radiant International and Goldstone
International, respectively.

Mr. Huang was appointed as a non-executive director and co-chairman of the board of China New Economy Fund
Limited (FF BB E B R A 7)), a company listed on the The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (stock code: 80), in January 2022 and as a non-executive director and the chairman of the board of China
United Venture Investment Limited (previously known as Glory Mark Hi-Tech (Holdings) Limited), a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8159), in February 2022.

Prior to his appointments as stated above, from March 2020 to December 2021, Mr. Huang served as a non-executive
director and the chairman of Lamtex Holdings Limited (“Lamtex”) (MiEE % B R 72 &), a company previously listed on the
Stock Exchange, a Bermuda company previously listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1041) and was principally
engaged in securities trading and investment business, securities brokerage and provision of securities margin finance
business, hotel operation business and trading, and manufacturing of electronic products business. Pursuant to the
announcement of Lamtex dated 17 March 2021 (the “Lamtex Announcement”), a winding-up petition against Lamtex
was filed to the High Court of The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the “High Court”) on 20 August 2020 on
the grounds that the Lamtex is insolvent and unable to settle the debt in sum of HK$10,200,000.00, being the principal
sum and accrued interests due and owing as at 2 July 2020 in relation to the bond issued by Lamtex on 30 May 2019
for a term of 1 year due repayable on 28 May 2020. On 11 March 2021, Lamtex was ordered to be wound up by
High Court. For further details, please refer to the Lamtex Announcement. Pursuant to filing records at the Hong Kong
Companies Registry, a liquidator of Lamtex was appointed on 12 May 2021.
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From September 2019 to October 2020, Mr. Huang served as an executive director of Holdings Limited (“GTI”) (£
ZEEBFRRAF]), a Cayman Islands company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3344) and was principally
engaged in sales and trading of textile products, trading of petroleum and chemical products, RMB banknotes clearing
up services and others. Pursuant to announcement of GTI dated 23 November 2021 (the “GTI Announcement”), a
winding-up petition against GTI was filed to the High Court by one of the bondholders of GTl on 19 March 2020 on the
grounds that GTlI failed to pay such individual the outstanding principal amount and accrued interest of the bonds in an
aggregate amount of HK$3,843,876.38 as at 21 April 2020. On 22 November 2021, GTl was ordered to be wound up
by High Court. For further details, please refer to the GTI Announcement. Pursuant to filing records at the Hong Kong
Companies Registry, a liquidator of GTl was appointed on 22 February 2022.

Mr. Huang initiated the formation of Guangdong-Hongkong-Macao Bay Area Entrepreneurs Union (B8R K /&R DK
B B3) (the “Union”). Mr. Huang is the executive vice chairman of the Union and is in charge of technology and financial
sector.

Mr. Huang has extensive professional experience in fund and asset management as well as investment banking and
direct investments. Mr. Huang is dedicated to serve in the PRC, throughout the years, he contributed, including but not
limited to, developments in cross-border energy, resource mergers and acquisitions, and promoting energy output and
international engineering. Mr. Huang previously worked with CITIC Securities to establish CITIC Merchant Enterprise
Management Limited (7 {5 Bl38 1k 2 B ¥ /2 7)), which is driven by specific businesses such as disposal of non-performing
assets and mergers and acquisitions and supported by market-oriented operation to identify a unique business model
that integrates investment businesses with comprehensive financing services, thereby providing international corporate
clients with comprehensive solutions.

Mr. Huang has been appointed as the non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 19 August 2022.

Mr. Qian Yinghui (“Mr. Qian”), aged 40, has been the director of office of the chairman of Yunnan Baiyao Group
since April 2021, and the board secretary of Yunnan Baiyao Group since January 2022. Mr. Qian obtained a bachelor’s
degree in law from China Youth University of Political Studies* (1 Bl & F BUAZ ) in the PRC in 2006, and a master’s
degree in international trade and commercial law from the University of Durham in the United Kingdom in 2008. Mr.
Qian served as the project manager of the general office of the strategic committee of Yunnan Baiyao Group and the
project director of the centre of strategic development of Yunnan Baiyao Group.

Mr. Qian has been appointed as an non-executive Director with effect from 11 February 2022. With effect from 30 March
2022, Mr. Qian has also been appointed as a member of the Audit Committee.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Hin Wing (“Mr. Wong”), MH, aged 60, holds a master’s degree in executive business administration from
the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors and the Chartered Governance Institute. He is also a member of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a chartered member of the Chartered Institute for Securities & Investment. Mr. Wong
was awarded the Medal of Honour by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

Mr. Wong is an independent non-executive director of Jiangxi Bank Co., Ltd. (a H shares company listed on the Stock
Exchange with stock code: 1916), Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock
code: 6622), Kingmaker Footwear Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code: 1170)
and C Cheng Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code: 1486).
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Mr. Wong served as an independent non-executive director of AEON Credit Service (Asia) Co., Ltd. (a company listed
on the Stock Exchange with stock code: 900) from October 2004 to June 2020, Wine’s Link International Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code: 8509) from December 2017 to February 2023,
CRCC High-Tech Equipment Corporation Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code: 1786)
from November 2015 to October 2022, Dongjiang Environmental Company Limited (a A+H shares company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with stock code: 002672 and the Stock Exchange with stock code: 895) from June
2014 to December 2020, Guangzhou Baiyunshan Pharmaceutical Holdings Company Limited (a A+H shares company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code: 600332 and the Stock Exchange with stock code: 874) from
June 2017 to May 2023, and Inner Mongolia Yitai Coal Co., Ltd. (a B+H shares company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange with stock code: 900948 and the Stock Exchange with stock code: 3948) from May 2017 to May 2023. Save
as disclosed herein, Mr. Wong did not hold any directorship in other public companies the securities of which are listed
in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.

Mr. Wong is a member of the Anhui Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, a
panel member of Accounting and Financial Reporting Review Tribunal, a member of the Construction Industry Council,
the Betting and Lotteries Commission and the Medical Council of Hong Kong as well as a board member of Ocean
Park Corporation.

Mr. Wong is the managing partner and responsible officer of Hermitage Capital HK Limited, a private equity firm licensed
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”). Prior to this, he
had worked with an international audit firm for four years and then a listed company as chief financial officer for seven
years, after which he co-founded Silk Road International Capital Limited (a licensed corporation formerly known as
Legend Capital Partners Inc.) and led the company as the executive director and responsible officer for twenty-three
years. Overall, he has over three decades of solid experience in corporate management and governance, investment
management and advisory, accounting and finance.

Mr. Wong has been appointed as an independent non-executive director, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect from 21 November 2023.

Dr. Cheung Hoi Yu (“Dr. Yu”), JP, aged 69, obtained a bachelor’'s degree of science, a master’s degree of science,
and a doctoral degree of philosophy, from the University of Saskatchewan in Canada, in May 1976, October 1980
and May 1984, respectively. Dr. Yu has published more than 170 scientific papers and is the inventor of more than 70
global patents.

Dr. Yu is currently an independent non-executive director, a member of the remuneration committee and a member of
the nomination committee of Sirnaomics Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code: 02257.

Dr. Yu also serves as (i) a director of CR-CP Life Science Fund Management Limited since May 2021; (ii) a member of
the Biotech Advisory Panel of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since April 2018; (iii) a member of the board
of trustees of Gordon Research Conference, a group of international scientific conferences covering biological, chemical
and physical sciences and the related technologies, since July 2014; (iv) a director at Asian Fund for Cancer Research
since November 2012; and (v) a member of the Technology and Innovation Subsector of the Election Committee of
Hong Kong since October 2021.
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Dr. Yu served as the chairman of the Hong Kong Council for Testing and Certification from January 2016 to December
2021. In addition to that, Dr. Yu serves as a professor at the Neuroscience Research Institute (bR K14 R Z57
FEFT) at Peking University (1t A E2) since January 2002. Dr. Yu founded the Hong Kong Biotechnology Organization
(HKBIO) in September 2009 and the Guangdong — Hong Kong — Macau Greater Bay Area Biotechnology Alliance in
December 2017, and has been serving as the president since Dr. Yu’s appointment. Dr. Yu also founded Hong Kong
DNA Chips Limited, presently Hai Kang Life Corporation Limited, in May 1999, and has been serving as the president
of the board. Dr. Yu was appointed as a Justice of the Peace in July 2016.

Dr. Yu has been appointed as an independent non-executive director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect from 21 November 2023.

Dr. Cecilia Wai Bing Pang (“Dr. Pang”), BBS, aged 67, obtained a bachelor of science degree from the University of
Manitoba in Canada in 1976, and bachelor of science with honours and doctor of philosophy degrees from the Monash
University in Australia in 1978 and 1983 respectively.

Dr. Pang was the Biotechnology Director of the Innovation and Technology Commission of the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region for 20 years. She has over thirty years of experience in the research, development
and management of the biotechnology industry.

Dr. Pang has been appointed as an independent non-executive director and a member of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect from 21 November 2023.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Huaiyu Liu (“Mr. Liu”), aged 51, appointed as the Chief Financial Officer on 22 June 2022, and as the Company
Secretary on 19 August 2022. He holds a master of business administration from Cornell University, USA, and a bachelor
of economics from Shenzhen University, PRC. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
and a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Mr. Liu is an independent non-executive
director, the chairman of audit committee, the chairman of remuneration committee of Li Bao Ge Group Limited (stock
code: 01869), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong.

Mr. Liu has over 25 years of experience in finance and management, and had held senior posts with various listed
companies, including the chief financial officer of V1 Group Limited (Stock Code: 00082) in 2019, the executive director,
executive vice president, and company secretary of Chiho Environmental Group Limited (Stock Code: 00976) from 2016
to 2017, and the executive director and chief financial officer of Xinyuan Real Estate Company Limited (NYSE: XIN), a
company listed on the New York Stock Exchange, from 2015 to 2016. Mr. Liu was the Asia Pacific chief financial
officer of Savills Plc (LSE: SVS), a company listed on the London Stock Exchange and a constituent of the FTSE 250
Index, from 2011 to early 2015.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Throughout the financial year, the Group has undertaken a strategic restructuring, where key businesses and operational
functions are now overseen directly by the Executive Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer
and Company Secretary, all of whom constitute the senior management team of the Group. The Board will review the
organisation structure from time to time to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.
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The Board is committed to achieving and maintaining high standards of corporate governance to ensure that all decisions
are made in good faith, in the best interest of Shareholders and in long-term shareholders value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The corporate governance standards of the Company are built on the principles of independence, accountability,
transparency and fairness. In the opinion of the Board, save for deviations as set out below, during the year ended 31
March 2022 and up to the date of this report, the Group has apply and complied the principles set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”) as contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules:

Code Provision B.2.2
Code provision B.2.2 stipulates that non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific term and subject to
re-election.

The non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors were not appointed for a specific term, but are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and re-election at the annual general meetings of the
Company in accordance with the provisions of the Bye-laws. The management experience, expertise and commitment
of the re-electing Directors will be considered by the Nomination Committee before their reelection proposals are put
forward to Shareholders. As such, the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that
the Company’s corporate governance practices regarding Directors’ appointment are no less exacting than those in
the CG Code.

Insufficient number of independent non-executive directors
Pursuant to the announcement of the Company dated 10 November 2023:

() Mr. Jiang Zhi (“Mr. Jiang”) has tendered his resignation as independent non-executive director of the Company,
member of the audit committee, member of the nomination committee, and member of the remuneration committee
on 10 November 2023;

(i) Mr. Leung Ka Kui, Johnny (“Mr. Leung”) has tendered his resignation as independent non-executive director of the
Company, member of the audit committee, member of the nomination committee, and chairman of the remuneration
committee, and member of the independent investigation committee on 10 November 2023; and

(i) Ms. Wong Chui San, Susan (“Ms. Wong”) has tendered her resignation as independent non-executive director
of the Company, chairman of the audit committee, member of the nomination committee, and member of the
remuneration committee, and member of the independent investigation committee on 10 November 2023.

Following the resignation of the Departing Directors, the composition of the Board comprises of three executive directors
and two non-executive directors at that time. As such, the number of independent non-executive directors and the
number of the members of each of the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee had fallen
below the minimum number as required under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A, 3.21, 3.25 and 3.27A of the Listing Rules.

As a remedial measure, the Board has used its best effort to identify suitable candidates to fill the vacancies as soon
as practicable and, in any event, within three-months from 10 November 2023 pursuant to Rules 3.11, 3.23 and 3.27
of the Listing Rules. As at 21 November 2023:

(i) Mr. Wong Hin Wing (“Mr. Wong”), MH, has been appointed as an independent nonexecutive director, the chairman
of the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) and a member of the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) with effect from 21 November 2023;
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Insufficient number of independent non-executive directors (Continued)

(i)  Dr. Cheung Hoi Yu (“Dr. Yu”), JP, has been appointed as an independent non-executive director, the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect
from 21 November 20283;

(i) Dr. Cecilia Wai Bing Pang (“Dr. Pang”), BBS, has been appointed as an independent nonexecutive director and
a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect from
21 November 2023.

Following the appointment of Mr. Wong, Dr. Yu and Dr. Pang as independent non-executive directors and the change
in composition of the Board committees as described above, the Company has re-compiled with Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A,
3.21, 3.25 and 3.27A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.
The prohibitions on securities dealing and disclosure requirements in the Model Code also apply to the Group’s senior
management and persons who are privy to price sensitive information of the Group. Having made specific enquiry, all
Directors confirmed to the Company that they have complied with the Model Code during the year and up to the date
of publication of this report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The new share option scheme of the Company was adopted on 30 September 2013 (the “New Option Scheme”). Pursuant
to the New Option Scheme, the Directors are authorized to grant options to any executive or non-executive directors,
any executives and employees and those persons who have contributed or will contribute to the Group as incentive
schemes and rewards. Apart from the New Option Scheme, the Company did not have any other share option scheme.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, no options were granted or exercised under the New Option Scheme.

Board Diversity Policy

With an aim to achieve diversity on the Board, the Board has approved and adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) and revised the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee to ensure the appropriate
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy. The Policy was made with a view to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company, through the invitation and selection of different talents to join the Board having due regard
to the importance of Board diversity.

The Company is committed to establishing procedures of candidates’ selection based on a range of diversity perspectives
including gender, age, cultural background, ethnicity, educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the elected candidates will bring to the
Board. The Board’s composition will be disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report annually.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises Directors with both genders, diverse background and
experiences. The Board has a balanced composition for its executive Directors being in possession of extensive industrial
expertise and experience in the operation of Group’s business and the independent non-executive Directors contributing
their independent opinions and judgements, which facilitate an effective decision-making process for the Board. The
composition of the Board is reviewed on an annual basis by the Nomination Committee.
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Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

As at 31 March 2022, the Board has one female Director and has achieved gender diversity on the board level. The
Board also recognizes the importance of diversity at the workforce level. As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a total
of 27 employees in Hong Kong, of which 18 were male and 9 were female. The gender ratio of the Group’s workforce
(including senior management) was approximately 67% male to 33% female.

As the plans for the Group in terms of gender diversity in workforce, the Group will periodically review internal records
on gender diversity, identify suitable female candidates for relevant positions within the Company, and try to ensure that
there is gender diversity when recruiting staff at mid to senior level and training female staff with the aim of promoting
them to the senior management or directorship of the Company, so as to maintain the balance of gender diversity in
the foreseeable future.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company, oversees the Group’s businesses and evaluate
the performance of the Group. The Board also focuses on the overall strategies and policies with particular attention
paid to the growth and financial performance of the Group.

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to the Executive Directors and senior management, while
reserving certain key matters for its approval. When the Board delegates aspects of its management and administration
functions to the management, it has given clear directions as to the powers of the management, in particular, with
respect to the circumstances where the management shall report back and obtain prior approval from the Board before
making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company.

The Directors were supplied with adequate and relevant information in a timely manner to enable them to form informed
decisions before all the relevant meetings. Every Director is aware that he/she should give sufficient time and attention
to the affairs of the Company. Agreed procedures are in place for the member of the Board and/or committee to seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expenses to assist them to discharge their duties. The Company’s
senior management regularly supplies the Board and its Committees with adequate information in a timely manner
to enable them to make informed decisions. For Board meetings and the Board Committee meetings, the agenda
accompanying with Board papers were sent to all Directors at least three days before the intended date of the Board
meetings or Board Committee meetings.



30

YNBY International Limited

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
Board Composition
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board consisted of the directors as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Dong Ming (Chairman) (appointed on 17 January 2022)

Mr. Chow Wang (Deputy Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Yin Pinyao

Mr. Wang Zhaoqing (Chief Operating Officer)

Mr. Liu Zhouyang (Deputy Chief Executive Officer) (appointed on 11 February 2022)
Mr. Chu Ka Wa (resigned on 1 November 2021)

Mr. Wang Minghui (resigned on 11 February 2022)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Qian Yinghui (appointed on 11 February 2022)
Mr. Fong For (resigned on 11 February 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Jiang Zhi

Mr. Leung Ka Kui, Johnny

Ms. Wong Chui San, Susan

Up to the publication date of this report, the Board consisted of the directors as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Dong Ming (Chairman)

Mr. Tang Ming (appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 15 April 2022, appointed as Director on 19 August 2022)
Mr. Liu Zhouyang

Mr. Chow Wang (ceased as Chief Executive Officer on 15 April 2022; ceased as Director on 16 August 2022)

Mr. Wang Zhaoqing (ceased on 16 August 2022)

Mr. Yin Pinyao (resigned on 8 August 2023)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Qian Yinghui
Mr. Huang Bin (appointed on 19 August 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Dr. Cecilia Wai Bing Pang (appointed on 21 November 2023)
Dr. Cheung Hoi Yu (appointed on 21 November 2023)

Mr. Wong Hin Wing (appointed on 21 November 2023)

Mr. Jiang Zhi (resigned on 10 November 2023)

Mr. Leung Ka Kui, Johnny (resigned on 10 November 2023)
Ms. Wong Chui San, Susan (resigned on 10 November 2023)
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Board Composition (Continued)
There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship among members of the Board.

The Board has a policy of appointing Directors with different professional background, industry experiences, skills,
knowledge and background so as to bring in valuable contributions and advices for the development of the Group’s
business. Currently, three out of nine Directors are INEDs and one of them is a qualified accountant. Biographical details
of the Directors are set out in the section of “Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management” in this report.

At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three,
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every director shall be
subject to retirement at least once every three years. A retiring director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue
to act as a director throughout the meeting at which he retires. According to the Bye-laws, all newly appointed directors
will hold office until the first general meeting after his/their appointment(s) and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

As at 31 March 2022, Mr. Dong Ming (“Mr. Dong”) was the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Chow Wang (“Mr. Chow”)
was the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. There is segregation of duties between Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer. The segregation of duties ensures balance of power between the Board and the Group’s management as well
as their independence and accountability.

The Chairman is the leader of the Board and he oversees the Board so that it acts in the best interests of the Group.
The Chairman is responsible for deciding the agenda of each Board meeting, taking into account, where appropriate,
matters proposed by other directors for inclusion in the agenda. The Chairman has the overall responsibility for leading
the Company and providing leadership, vision and direction in the development of the business of the Company. In the
absence of the Chairman, the Deputy Chairman would perform his role and presided at the meetings of the Directors.

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the day-to-day management of the business of the Group, attends to
formulation and successful implementation of Company’s policies, and assumes full accountability to the Board for all
operations of the Group. Working with the Chairman and the executive management team of each core business division,
he ensures smooth operations and development of the Group. He maintains a constant dialogue with the Chairman and
all the Directors to keep them fully informed of all major business developments and issues. He is also responsible for
building and maintaining an effective executive team to support him in his role.

Non-Executive Directors

All non-executive directors of the Company were not appointed for a specific term, but are subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and re-election at the annual general meetings of the Company in line with the
Bye-laws. As such, the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practices are no less exacting than those in the CG Code.

The Company has received written confirmation from each of the independent non-executive Director of their independence
to the Group. The Group considered all of the independent non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines.
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Board Meetings

The Board held 22 meetings in the fiscal year. Prior notices and the agenda of the Board meetings were given to the
Directors. Directors may attend meetings in person or via telephone, electronic or other communication facilities.
Minutes of the Board meetings and the Board Committees meetings are recorded in sufficient details and kept by the
company secretary for inspection by Directors. The Board holds meetings on a regular basis and will meet on other
occasions when a board-level decision on a particular matter is required. The Board also monitors and controls financial
performance in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives. The attendance of each of the director at Board meetings,
Committee meetings and annual/special general meetings held during the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out below.

Annual/
Special
Audit  Nomination Remuneration General
Name Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Total numbers of meetings held during
the year ended 31 March 2022 22 & 3 & 1
Executive Directors:
Mr. Dong Ming
(appointed on 17 January 2022) 2/2 N/A 1/1 N/A N/A
Mr. Chow Wang 22/22 N/A 3/3 3/3 11
Mr. Yin Pinyao 5/22 N/A 0/0 0/0 0/1
Mr. Wang Zhaoging 22/22 N/A N/A N/A 0/1
Mr. Liu Zhouyang
(appointed on 11 February 2022) 1/2 N/A N/A 0/0 N/A
Mr. Chu Ka Wa
(ceased on 1 November 2021) 12/13 N/A N/A 2/2 1/1
Mr. Wang Minghui
(ceased on 11 February 2022) 2/20 N/A 0/3 N/A 0/1
Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Qian Yinghui
(appointed on 11 February 2022) 2/2 0/0 N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Fong For
(resigned on 11 February 2022) 4/20 N/A N/A N/A 0/1
Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Jiang Zhi 20/22 3/3 3/3 3/3 0/1
Mr. Leung Ka Kui, Johnny 19/22 3/3 3/3 3/3 0/1

Ms. Wong Chui San, Susan 22/22 3/3 3/3 3/3 1/1
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Directors’ training and professional development

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. Training materials and
regular updates were made available to the Directors to keep them abreast of the relevant rules and requirements, the
topics of the training materials include, amongst others, inside information disclosure requirements under the SFO,
continuing and connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and other relevant laws and the Listing
Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate governance functions:

(@) todevelop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and make recommendations;
(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of directors and senior management;
(c) toreview and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual applicable to employees and directors;
(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report;

(f) to evaluate and determine the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic
objectives; and

(9) toensure that the Group establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems and review their effectiveness.

BOARD COMMITTEES

When the Board delegates aspects of its management and administration functions to management, it has given clear
directions as to the powers of management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances where management shall
report back and obtain prior approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any commitments on
behalf of the Company.

The Company has set up three committees including the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee, each Committee with its specific terms of reference as set out in the CG Code.



34

YNBY International Limited

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Remuneration Committee
The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference in consistent with the CG

C

ode for the purpose of making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy and structure

for directors and senior management. The written terms of reference are posted on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

The work of the Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31 March 2022 included the following matters:

Vi,

reviewed and made recommendations to the Board regarding the remuneration packages for the year ended 31
March 2022 for all the Directors and senior management of the Company with assessing their performance with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives. The Remuneration Committee has considered factors
such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the directors, employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-based remuneration;

reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive directors
and senior management. This should include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

ensured no director or any of his associated is involved in deciding his own remuneration;

reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the emolument policy of the employees of the Group on
the basis of their merit, qualification and competence;

reviewed the terms of executive directors’ service contracts;

reviewed matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

[=]

ursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of the senior management (other than the Directors)

for the year ended 31 March 2022 is listed as below by band:

2022
Number of
individuals

Nil = HK$1,000,000 2

The number of the Remuneration Committee meetings held during the year and record of individual attendance of
members, on a named basis, at meetings held during the year ended 31 March 2022 was set out in section headed
“Board Meetings” above.
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Remuneration Committee (Continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Remuneration Committee consisted of the following members:

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Ka Kui, Johnny (Chairman)
Mr. Jiang Zhi

Ms. Wong Chui San, Susan

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Zhouyang (appointed on 30 March 2022)
Mr. Yin Pinyao (appointed on 30 March 2022)
Mr. Chow Wang (ceased on 30 March 2022)

Mr. Chu Ka Wa (ceased on 1 November 2021)

Up to the publication date of this report, the Remuneration Committee consisted of the directors as follows:

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Cheung Hoi Yu (Chairman) (appointed on 21 November 2023)

Dr. Cecilia Wai Bing Pang (appointed on 21 November 2023)

Mr. Wong Hin Wing (appointed on 21 November 2023)

Mr. Leung Ka Kui, Johnny (ceased as Director on 10 November 2023)
Mr. Jiang Zhi (ceased as Director on 10 November 2023)

Ms. Wong Chui San, Susan (ceased as Director on 10 November 2023)

Executive Directors

Mr. Tang Ming (appointed on 3 February 2023)

Mr. Liu Zhouyang (ceased on 3 February 2023)

Mr. Yin Pinyao (ceased as Director on 8 August 2023)

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with written terms of reference in consistent with the CG Code
for the purpose of reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board on a regular basis and identifying individuals suitably qualified to become board members. It is also responsible
for assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors and making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for directors. The written terms of reference

are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Board diversity policy and nomination policy have been adopted to maintain the Board with a diversity of directors and

with a nomination process of candidates respectively.
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Nomination Committee (Continued)
In addition, the shareholders have the power to nominate any person to become a director of the Company in accordance
with the Bye-laws, the procedures for election of directors were published on the Company’s website.

The work of the Nomination Committee during the year ended 31 March 2022 included the following matters:

i reviewed the Nomination Committee terms of reference and evaluated the above-named Directors’ skills,
qualifications, knowledge and experiences;

ii. reviewed the composition of the Board in accordance with the measurable objective of the Board Diversity Policy;
and

iii. reviewed the nomination policy to achieve the selection, appointment and re-appointment of the Directors.

The biographies of the above-named Directors are set out in the section of “Biographical Information of Directors and
Senior Management” in this report.

The number of Nomination Committee meetings held during the year and record of individual attendance of members,
on a named basis, at meetings held during the year ended 31 March 2022 was set out in section headed “Board
Meetings” above.

Board Diversity Policy

With an aim to achieve diversity on the Board, the Board has approved and adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) and revised the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee to ensure the appropriate
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy. The Policy was made with a view to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company, through the invitation and selection of different talents to join the Board having due regard
to the importance of Board diversity.

The Company is committed to establishing procedures of candidates’ selection based on a range of diversity perspectives
including gender, age, cultural background, ethnicity, educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the elected candidates will bring to the
Board. The Board’s composition will be disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report annually.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises Directors with both genders, diverse background and
experiences. The Board has a balanced composition for its executive Directors being in possession of extensive industrial
expertise and experience in the operation of Group’s business and the independent non-executive Directors contributing
their independent opinions and judgements, which facilitate an effective decision-making process for the Board. The
composition of the Board is reviewed on an annual basis by the Nomination Committee.

As at 31 March 2022, the Board has one female Director and has achieved gender diversity on the board level. The
Board also recognizes the importance of diversity at the workforce level. As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a total
of 27 employees in Hong Kong, of which 18 were male and 9 were female. The gender ratio of the Group’s workforce
(including senior management) was approximately 67% male to 33% female.
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Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

As the plans for the Group in terms of gender diversity in workforce, the Group will periodically review internal records
on gender diversity, identify suitable female candidates for relevant positions within the Company, and try to ensure that
there is gender diversity when recruiting staff at mid to senior level and training female staff with the aim of promoting
them to the senior management or directorship of the Company, so as to maintain the balance of gender diversity in
the foreseeable future.

Nomination Policy

With an aim to set out the criteria and process in relation to the selection, appointment and re-appointment of the
Directors to guide the Nomination Committee, the Board has approved and adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) in January 2019 to assess the suitability of a candidate for directorship and make recommendations regarding
the appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any existing directors to the Board.

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria when they are evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships:

a. character and integrity;

b. professional qualifications, knowledge and skills and professional experience that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

c. willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board or committee member and other directorships
and significant commitments;

d. requirement for the Board to have independent directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidates would be considered independent with reference to the independence guidelines set out therein;

e. the Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted by the Nomination Committee for achieving
diversity on the Board; and

f. such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.
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The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for appointment as additional Director or to fill the Board’s
casual vacancy in accordance with the following procedures:

a. The Nomination Committee shall, upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the biographical
information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out in the
above criteria to determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

b. If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the Nomination Committee shall rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of the Company and conduct reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

c. The Nomination Committee shall then recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship.

d. Pursuant to section 74(1) of the Bermuda Companies Act, the Directors, on the requisition of shareholders of the
Company holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company, can convene a special general
meeting to address specific issues of the Company within 21 days from the date of deposit of written notice to the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong.

e. Forany person that is nominated by a shareholder for election as a director at the general meeting of the Company,
the Nomination Committee shall evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out in the above criteria to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship and where appropriate, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board shall make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed election of director at
the general meeting.

f. Pursuant to the Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting one-third of the directors of the Company for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years.
A retiring director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a director throughout the meeting
at which he/she retires. For all newly appointed directors who will hold office until the first general meeting of
shareholders after his/their appointment(s) and shall then be eligible for re-election.

g. A candidate is allowed to withdraw his/her candidacy at any time before the general meeting by serving a notice
in writing to the Company.

h. The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its recommendation of candidates to stand for
election at any general meeting.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy and Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and Nomination Policy.

Without prejudice to the authority and duties of the Nomination Committee as set out in its terms of reference, the
ultimate responsibility for selection and appointment of Directors rests with the entire Board.
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During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Nomination Committee consisted of the following members:

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Jiang Zhi

Mr. Leung Ka Kui, Johnny

Ms. Wong Chui San, Susan

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Ming (Chairman) (appointed on 30 March 2022)
Mr. Yin Pinyao (appointed on 30 March 2022)

Mr. Chow Wang (ceased on 30 March 2022)

Mr. Wang Minghui (ceased on 11 February 2022)

Up to the publication date of this report, the Nomination Committee consisted of the directors as follows:

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Cheung Hoi Yu (appointed on 21 November 2023)

Dr. Cecilia Wai Bing Pang (appointed on 21 November 2023)

Mr. Wong Hin Wing (appointed on 21 November 2023)

Mr. Leung Ka Kui, Johnny (ceased as Director on 10 November 2023)
Mr. Jiang Zhi (ceased as Director on 10 November 2023)

Ms. Wong Chui San, Susan (ceased as Director on 10 November 2023)

Executive Directors
Mr. Dong Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Yin Pinyao (ceased as Director on 8 August 2023)
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Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written terms of reference in consistent with the CG Code. The
revised terms of reference are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, reviewing
the Group’s financial information, discussing auditing matters and overseeing the Group’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control procedure. The Audit Committee is also responsible for reviewing the interim
and final results of the Group prior to recommending them to the Board for approval. In performing its duties, it has
unrestricted access to personnel and records, and the power to liaise with external auditors and senior management.
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Audit Committee held 2 meetings and the work of the Audit Committee
included the following matters:

Vi

Vii.

viii.

Xi.

reviewed and discussed the terms of reference of the Audit Committee in order to be in line with the latest amendment
of Listing Rules;

discussed with management the risk management framework, policies and procedures and ensure that they are in
place to identify, assess, manage, control and report risks and draft a written risk management policy to monitor
the Group’s business objectives;

discussed with management the status of interim results for the six months ended 30 September 2021 and annual
results for the year ended 31 March 2022;

reviewed and discussed with management the report of the risk management and internal control systems proposed
by an independent consultant to assess the internal control and risk management of the Company during the year

ended 31 March 2022;

reviewed and discussed with management and the external auditors regarding the financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2022 and management letter;

reviewed and discussed with management and the external auditors regarding the unaudited interim financial
statements for the six months ended 30 September 2021 and management letter;

reviewed the effectiveness of risk management and internal control system;

reviewed the external auditors’ statutory audit plan and engagement letter;

discussed with the management and ensured that the Board has conducted an annual review such that there is
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function;

recommended to the Board, for the approval by shareholders, of the re-appointment of the auditors; and
reviewed and discussed the draft of the internal audit policy in order to monitor the Group’s daily operation and

carry out appraisal of the risk management and internal control systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs
and tests of operating effectiveness.
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Audit Committee (Continued)

The number of the Audit Committee meetings held and record of individual attendance of members, on a named basis,
at meetings held during the year ended 31 March 2022 was set out in section headed “Board Meetings” above. The
Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Audit Committee consisted of the following Directors, of which Ms. Wong
Chui San, Susan is a certified public accountant:

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Wong Chui San, Susan (Chairman)
Mr. Jiang Zhi

Mr. Leung Ka Kui, Johnny

Non-executive Director
Mr. Qian Yinghui (appointed on 11 February 2022)

Up to the publication date of this report, the Audit Committee consisted of the following Directors, of which Mr. Wong
Hin Wing is a certified public accountant:

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Hin Wing (Chairman) (appointed on 21 November 2023)

Dr. Cheung Hoi Yu (appointed on 21 November 2023)

Dr. Cecilia Wai Bing Pang (appointed on 21 November 2023)

Mr. Leung Ka Kui, Johnny (ceased as Director on 10 November 2023)
Mr. Jiang Zhi (ceased as Director on 10 November 2023)

Ms. Wong Chui San, Susan (ceased as Director on 10 November 2023)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Qian Yinghui

Accountability and Audit

Financial Reporting

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Group and have adopted
the accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and complied with the requirements of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (which include all Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the management has provided such explanation and information to the Board as
necessary to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial information and position of the Group
put forward to the Board for approval. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The reporting
responsibilities of the Company’s independent auditor are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 46 to 50.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is accountable for overseeing the Group’s risk management, including the risks relating to the Company’s
environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) performance and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness,
while the management are responsible for implementing and maintaining the internal controls systems that covers
governance, compliance, risk management (including ESG risks), financial and operational controls to safeguard the
Group’s assets and stakeholders’ interests. However, such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. Procedures are in place to identify major business risks and evaluate potential financial
implications. The Board recognizes the importance of identifying and addressing ESG-related risks, including those
related to climate, and believes that a focus on managing these factors can result in an enhanced and long-lasting
business value for the Group.

The Group has formulated a risk management policy and adopted a three-tier risk management approach to identify,
assess and manage different types of risks. At the first line of defense, business units are responsible for identifying,
assessing and monitoring risk associated with each business or transaction. The management, as the second line
of defence, defines rule sets and models, provides technical support, develops new system and oversees portfolio
management. It ensures that risks are within acceptable range and that the first line of defence is effective. As the final
line of defence, the independent consultant, as an internal audit function, assists the Audit Committee to review the
first and second lines of defence.

The Group is committed to the identification, evaluation and management of risks associated with its business activities
through ongoing assessment, by considering the likelihood and impact of each identified risk. The Group has implemented
an effective control system which includes a defined management structure with limits of authority, a sound management
system and periodic review of the Group’s performance by the Audit Committee and the Board.

Through the Audit Committee, the Board has conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management (including ESG risks) and internal control systems for the year ended 31 March 2022, covering the material
financial, operational and compliance controls, which are considered effective and adequate. The Audit Committee
has reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
accounting, internal audit, financial reporting and ESG reporting functions on an annual basis.

Based on the framework for risk management (including ESG risks) and internal control system established by the Group,
the Board and the Audit Committee admitted that through the review of risk management (including ESG risks) and
internal control systems of the Group, it can evaluate and improve its effectiveness. The Board, with the concurrence
of the Audit Committee, considered that such systems, including financial, operational and compliance were effective
and adequate for the year ended 31 March 2022 based on the work performed and report prepared by the independent
consultant. The Company will perform the ongoing assessment to update all material risk factors on a regular basis.
In any case, review on risk management (including ESG risks) and internal control system will be conducted annually.

Internal audit function

The Group had engaged an independent internal control consultant to assess the Group’s overall internal controls for
the year ended 31 March 2022 and to give recommendations to make any enhancement. It was reported that there
were no material deficiencies in relation to the Group’s internal controls. The Board is of the view that the internal
control measures of the Group are adequately and effectively monitoring its business operations for the year ended 31
March 2022.
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Inside Information

The Group has adopted and implemented its own disclosure policy aiming to provide a general guide to the Directors
and senior management of the Company in handling of confidential information and/or monitoring of information
disclosure pursuant to applicable laws and regulations in compliance with the Main Board Listing Rules and SFO and
shall seek legal advice where necessary. The disclosure policy provides the procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information by publication of the announcement to the respective websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company on a timely basis to enable the public, namely shareholders, institutional investors,
potential investors and other stakeholders of the Company to access the latest information of the Group, unless such
information fall within the safe harbours with the SFO. The management has notified all employees to comply with the
disclosure policy. Briefing and training on the implementation of the policy have been provided to Directors, officers
and senior management of the Group. The Board emphasises that only the authorised representatives registered in the
Stock Exchange are authorised to speak on behalf of the Company.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company has adopted arrangement, including a whistleblowing policy and the policy of anti-corruption to allow and
encourage employees and other stakeholders to raise concerns, in confidential, about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, internal control, criminal action, compliance and other malpractices or other matters. All the concerns received
will be handled confidential in prompt and fair manner. The Board shall regularly review such arrangement, conduct
independent investigation on these matters if necessary, and considers appropriate follow-up action.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 have been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA LIMITED. Fee
paid or payable to the auditors for audit service provided to the Group is approximately HK$1,500,000. The auditors’
remuneration has been duly approved by the Audit Committee and there was no disagreement between the Board and
the Audit Committee on the selection and appointment of the auditors. For the year ended 31 March 2022, there was
no fee paid or payable to the auditors for non-audit services provided to the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) assists the Board by ensuring that the Board
policy and procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also responsible for advising that Board on corporate
governance matters.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company appointed Ms. Li Wing Sze (“Ms. Li”) as the Company Secretary.
She has complied with all the required qualifications, experiences and training requirements under the Listing Rules.
She was the full-time employee of the Company and had possessed knowledge of the Company’s affairs. Ms. Li is
an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and an associate member of the Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. For the year ended 31 March 2022, Ms. Li complied with the Listing Rules by
taking not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training. The biographic of Ms. Li is set out in the section headed
“Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management” in this report.

Up to the publication date of this report, the Company has appointed Mr. Liu Huaiyu (“Mr. Liu”), who is the chief financial
officer of the Company, as Company Secretary to replace Ms. Li’s resignation, with effect on 19 August 2022. Mr. Liu
is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, he has over 25 years of experience in finance
and management with various large organizations and listed companies.
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Effective communication

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for communication between the shareholders and the Board. The
Chairman of the Board as well as chairman of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee, or in their absence,
other members of the respective committees, are available to answer questions at the shareholders’ meetings.

Separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue, including the election of
individual directors.

The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships with its investors. Designated senior management
maintains regular dialogue with investors and analysis to keep them abreast of the Company’s developments. Enquiries
from investors are dealt with in an informative and timely manner. The Company has also established a shareholders’
communication policy to ensure that the shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately addressed. Such policy
is reviewed periodically to ensure its implementation and effectiveness. All the announcements and circulars are
published on the Company’s website and on the Stock Exchange’s website. As such, the Company considered that
the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy conducted for the year ended 31
March 2022 are adequate.

Voting by poll

The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding a poll on resolutions at shareholders’ meetings are
contained in the Bye-laws. Details of such rights to demand a poll and the poll procedures are included in all circulars
to shareholders and will be explained during the proceedings of meetings.

Poll results of the general meetings were published on the website of the Stock Exchange as well as the Company’s
website.

Dividend Policy

The Company adopts a dividend policy, taking into consideration all circumstances including the following factors before
declaring or recommending dividends: (i) the current and projected financial performance of the Company; (i) effective
allocation of distributable retained earnings and reserves; (i) the growth and investment opportunities; (iv) other macro
and micro economic factors; and (v) other factors or events that the Board may consider relevant or appropriate from
time to time. The payment of dividend is also subject to any restrictions under the applicable laws and the Bye-laws.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening extraordinary general meeting and putting forward proposals at Shareholder’s meetings
Pursuant to section 74(1) of the Bermuda Companies Act, the Directors, on the requisition of shareholders of the
Company holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company, can convene a special general meeting
to address specific issues of the Company within 21 days from the date of deposit of written notice to the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong. The same requirement and procedure also applies to any proposal
to be tabled at shareholders’ meetings for adoption.

Shareholders’ Enquiries to the Board
The Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing through the Company
Secretary. The contact details are set out in the Company’s website (www.0030.com.hk).
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

The Group has from time to time endeavoured to comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection
and adopted effective environmental policies to ensure its projects meet the required standards and ethics in respect
of environmental protection and to lead its reduction in greenhouse gas emissions that contribute to climate change.
The Company will issue Environmental, Social and Governance Report in a separate manner and publish the report on
the Company’s website (www.0030.com.hk) and the Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk).

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Bye-laws are available on the Company’s website: www.0030.com.hk and the Stock Exchange’s website:
www.hkexnews.hk. No significant change is made to the Company'‘s constitutional documents for the year ended 31
March 2022.
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ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF YNBY INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS BAN LOONG HOLDINGS LIMITED)
EQERARAT (AR BEZREEARAF)

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of YNBY International Limited (formerly known as
Ban Loong Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 51 to 113, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. Because of the significance of
the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.
In all other respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

1. Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 March 2022
Due to the departure of certain former key management personnel who were responsible for the operational, financial
and accounting matters in 2022, who the Group were unable to contact and communicate with, we were unable
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence (i.e. delivery documents) to satisfy ourselves as to the occurrence,
accuracy, completeness and cutoff of the revenue transactions recognised by the subsidiary of the Company, Wan
Long Xing Ye Commercial Trading (Hong Kong) Limited, of HK$152,578,693 for the year ended 31 March 2022
(“Trading Transactions”). As a result, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments might have been found
necessary in respect of the Trading Transactions.

2. Trade receivables

Due to the departure of certain former key management personnel who were responsible for the operational,
financial and accounting matters in 2022, who the Group were unable to contact and communicate with, we were
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the existence, rights and obligations,
completeness and valuation of the trade receivables amounted to RMB25,432,050 (equivalent to HK$31,334,320)
as at 31 March 2022 and of which impairment loss of RMB10,968,069 (equivalent to HK$13,524,078) was made
during the year ended 31 March 2022. There are no other satisfactory audit procedures that we could adopt to
determine whether any adjustments might have been found necessary in respect of the trade receivables and the
impairment losses made for the year.
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3. Other receivables, deposits and prepayments

Due to the departure of certain former key management personnel who were responsible for the operational,
financial and accounting matters in 2022, who the Group were unable to contact and communicate with, we were
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the existence, rights and obligations,
completeness and valuation of the other receivables, deposits and prepayments amounted to HK$563,777,772
which was fully impaired during the year ended 31 March 2022. There are no other satisfactory audit procedures
that we could adopt to determine whether any adjustments might have been found necessary in respect of the
other receivables, deposits and prepayments and the impairment losses made for the year.

4. Loan and interest receivables

Due to the departure of certain former key management personnel who were responsible for the operational,
financial and accounting matters in 2022, who the Group were unable to contact and communicate with, we were
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the existence, rights and obligations,
completeness and valuation of the loan and interest receivable amounted to HK$478,842,967 which was fully
impaired and the relevant interest income during the year ended 31 March 2022. There are no other satisfactory
audit procedures that we could adopt to determine whether any adjustments might have been found necessary in
respect of the loan and interest receivables, interest income and the impairment losses made for the year.

5. Inventories

We were appointed as auditor of the Company subsequent to the Company’s end of the reporting period of 31
March 2022. In consequence, we were unable to attend the Group’s physical count of inventories as at that
date. The Group has not maintained sufficient stock records for us to verify the carrying amount of inventories of
HK$6,794,775 as at that date. We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves
as to the existence, quantities and conditions of the inventories. In addition, impairment of inventories amounted to
HK$18,651,927 was made during the year ended 31 March 2022. There are no other satisfactory audit procedures
that we could perform to determine whether the impairment was properly recorded.

6. Trade and other payables
Due to the departure of certain former key management personnel who were responsible for the operational,
financial and accounting matters in 2022, who the Group were unable to contact and communicate with, we were
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the existence, rights and obligations,
completeness and valuation of the trade and other payables amounted to HK$19,612,191 as at 31 March 2022.
There are no other satisfactory audit procedures that we could adopt to determine whether any adjustments might
have been found necessary in respect of the trade and other payables.

7. Revenue and cost of sales reversed during the year ended 31 March 2022

Due to the departure of certain former key management personnel who were responsible for the operational, financial
and accounting matters in 2022, who the Group were unable to contact and communicate with, we were unable to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the appropriateness of the revenue and cost of
sales transactions reversed by the subsidiary of the Company, Wan Long Xing Ye Commercial Trading (Shenzhen)
Limited (“Wan Long Shenzhen”), of RMB486,940,670 (equivalent to HK$599,079,217) and RMB482,375,607
(equivalent to HK$594,788,870), respectively, for the year ended 31 March 2022 (“Reversed Transactions”). As a
result, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments might have been found necessary in respect of the
Reversed Transactions.
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Insufficient accounting records of Wan Long Shenzhen

As advised by the board of directors, since the departure of certain former key management personnel who were
responsible for the operational, financial and accounting matters of Wan Long Shenzhen in 2022, who the Group
were unable to contact and communicate with, Wan Long Shenzhen has retained the basic business records,
including but not limited to management accounts, ledgers and sub-ledgers accounts, certain vouchers, bank
statements, certain agreements and documentation (collectively referred to as the “Basic Records”), that were left
behind by the former management and accounting departments of Wan Long Shenzhen as far as possible. The
Basic Records were not considered to be of a sufficient level for our audit purposes. More specific business records
and supporting explanations of Wan Long Shenzhen’s accounting records were needed for our audit, including
but not limited to, (i) certain supporting documents of certain business transactions, such as invoices, receipts
and purchase orders; (ii) detailed explanation of the accounting entries made (collectively, the “Specific Records”).

In the absence of the Specific Records of the Wan Long Shenzhen following the departure of certain former key
management personnel in 2022, the board of directors considered that they could only use their best endeavor to
preserve the books and records that were left behind by the former management and the accounting departments
and they were unable to determine whether these Specific Records were complete in the first place, and they had
no other access to such Specific Records despite they have taken all reasonable steps and have used their best
endeavor to locate such Specific Records.

As a result of the above matters, in addition to paragraph 2, 3, 6 and 7, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to ascertain whether the income and expenses for the year ended 31 March 2022 and
the assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2022 of Wan Long Shenzhen, as detailed below, and other related disclosure
notes in relation to Wan Long Shenzhen, as included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group, have
been accurately recorded and properly accounted for in the consolidated financial statements.

Extract of Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 March 2022 31 March 2021

HK$ HK$

Revenue = 905,978,827
Cost of sales - (908,182,507)
Other income, gains and losses (2,531,055) 680,163

Net allowance for expected credit losses - (1,063,568)
Selling and distribution costs (2,505,411) (2,418,259)
Administrative expenses (5,430,621) (3,994,127)
Finance costs - (294,407)
Income tax expense - (251,608)
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As at As at

31 March 2022 31 March 2021

HK$ HK$

Non-current asset 2,116,262 1,138,247

Current assets

Trade receivables - 7,561,423

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 45,113,959 262,369,895

Other current assets 717,560 11,460,324
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables = 18,635,666

Contract liabilities 37,697,717 33,866,293

Other current liabilities 1,593,257 726,600

Accordingly, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments might have been found necessary in respect
of recorded or unrecorded transactions and the elements making up the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of financial position, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2022.

9. Opening balance and the comparative information

As described in the preceding paragraphs, in addition to paragraph 8, due to the absence of sufficient supporting
documents and more detailed explanations in relation to the accounting records in connection to the opening
balances and comparative information made available to board of directors, we were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence over the account balances including other receivables, deposits and prepayments of
HK$549,776,957, loan and interest receivables of HK$529,709,844, inventories of HK$16,343,625 as at 31 March
2021 and the transactions including revenue of HK$222,728,910 and notes to consolidated financial statements
of the Group and Company for the year then ended. Any adjustments that might have been found necessary to
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 would have a
consequential effect on the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31
March 2022.

Any adjustments to the figures as described from paragraph 1 to 9 above might have a significant consequential effect on
the Group’s consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2022 and
2021 and the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2022 and 2021, and the related disclosures
thereof in the consolidated financial statements.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. However, because of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Shun Fai

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number: P05498

Hong Kong, 5 December 2023
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

Annual Report 2021 - 2022

2022 2021
HK$ HK$
Notes (restated)
Revenue 8 179,527,751 1,216,714,366
Cost of sales (175,180,018) (1,120,319,204)
Gross profit 4,347,733 96,395,162
Other income, gains and losses 9 (19,025,860) (83,2283,650)
Net allowance for expected credit losses 12 (1,043,369,958) (11,375,238)
Impairment on investment in an associate - (214,289)
Selling and distribution costs (3,742,403) (2,418,259)
Administrative expenses (48,239,948) (45,828,578)
Loss from operations (1,110,030,436) (46,664,852)
Finance costs 10 (3,850,678) (6,467,666)
Share of loss of an associate - (13,961)
Loss before tax (1,113,881,114) (563,146,479)
Income tax expenses 11 (3,438,843) (8,209,865)
Loss for the year 12 (1,117,319,957) (61,356,344)
Attributable to:

Owners of the Company (1,117,313,589) (61,359,363)
Non—controlling interests (6,368) 3,019
(1,117,319,957) (61,356,344)

Loss per share 14
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) (17.33) (0.95)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 March 2022

2022 2021
HK$ HK$
Note (restated)
Loss for the year 12 (1,117,319,957) (61,356,344)
Other comprehensive income
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 10,778,900 16,048,429
Total comprehensive loss for the year (1,106,541,057) (45,307,915)
Attributable to:
Owners of the Company (1,106,534,689) (45,310,934)
Non-controlling interests (6,368) 3,019

(1,106,541,057) (45,307,915)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March 2022

2022 2021
HK$ HK$
Notes (restated)
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 17 1,293,910 2,361,718
Right-of-use assets 18 8,420,877 15,072,472
Investment in an associate 19 - -
Loan receivables 24 - 303,191
Deferred tax assets 20 - 2,167,191
9,714,787 19,904,572
Current assets
Inventories 21 6,794,775 16,343,625
Trade receivables 23 47,924,068 7,561,423
Loan and interest receivables 24 = 529,709,844
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 25 50,474,666 602,312,870
Amount due from a shareholder 26 - 15,535,030
Tax recoverable 2,983,104 -
Cash and cash equivalents 27 203,861,996 251,236,954
312,038,609 1,422,699,746
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 28 58,439,651 28,186,258
Contract liabilities 29 37,697,717 33,866,293
Lease liabilities 30 5,225,728 8,186,810
Amount due to a shareholder 31 61,235 -
Bonds 32 = 19,954,171
Current tax liabilities - 10,091,657
Convertible bond 33 13,761,441 11,814,276
115,185,772 112,099,465
Net current assets 196,852,837 1,310,600,281

Total assets less current liabilities

206,567,624

1,330,504,853
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March 2022

2022 2021
HK$ HK$
Notes (restated)

Non-current liabilities
Convertible bond 33 - 13,761,441
Lease liabilities 30 3,390,906 7,025,637
3,390,906 20,787,078
NET ASSETS 203,176,718 1,309,717,775

Capital and reserves
Share capital 34 64,481,522 64,481,522
Reserves 137,778,336 1,244,313,025
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 202,259,858 1,308,794,547
Non-controlling interests 916,860 923,228
TOTAL EQUITY 203,176,718 1,309,717,775
Approved by:
Dong Ming Tang Ming

Director Director



Annual Report 2021 - 2022

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2022

Attributable to owners of the Company

Share Capital Convertible Non-

Share premium redemption hond Exchange  Accumulated controlling Total

capital account reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity

HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS

At 1 April 2020 64,481,622 988,278,817 176,000 - (14199,348) (238,928,219 799,808,772 920,209 800,728,981

(Loss)/profit for the year (restated) - - - - - (61,359,363) (61,359,369) 3,019 (61,356,344)

QOther comprehensive income for the year - - - - 16,048,429 - 16,048,429 - 16,048,429

Total comprehensive income/loss)

for the year (restated) - - - - 16,048,429 (61,359,363) (45,310,934) 3019 (45,307,91)

Issue of convertible bond (restated) - - - 554,296,709 - - 554,296,709 - 554,296,709

At 31 March 2021 (restated) 64,481,522 988,278,817 176,000 554,296,709 1,849,081 (300,267,582) 1,308,794 547 923208 1,309,717,775

At 1 April 2021 64,481,522 988,278,817 176,000 554,296,709 1,849,081 (300,287,582 1,308,794,547 923,208 1,309,717,775

Loss for the year - - - - = (1,117,313589)  (1,117,313,589) (6,368)  (1,117,319,957)

Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - 10,778,900 - 10,778,900 - 10,778,900
Total comprehensive income/(loss)

for the year - - - - 10,778,900  (1,117,313,589)  (1,106,534,689) (6,368)  (1,106,541,057)

At 31 March 2022 64,481,522 988,278,817 176,000 554,296,709 12,627,981 (1,417,601,171) 202,259,858 916,860 203,176,718
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 March 2022

2022 2021
HK$ HK$
(restated)

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:

(1,113,881,114)

(63,146,479)

Depreciation — right-of-use assets 8,729,840 9,180,059
Depreciation — property, plant and equipment 992,124 1,289,938
Allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables 13,529,676 24,787
Reversal of allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables (25,837) (235,372)
Allowance for expected credit losses on other receivables 563,979,530 771,256
Allowance for expected credit losses on loan and interest receivables 466,969,356 11,153,999
Reversal of allowance for expected credit losses on loan receivables - (339,432)
Reversal of allowance for expected credit losses on other receivables (1,082,767) -
Impairment on interest in an associate = 214,289
Bank interest income (42,385) (142,875)
Finance costs 3,850,678 6,467,666
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment - (177,905)
Written-off of property, plant and equipment 396,784 -
Impairment loss on inventory 18,651,927 -
Loss on initial recognition of convertible bonds - 84,937,308
Exchange difference 964,282 -
Share of loss of an associate - 13,961
Operating cash flows before working capital changes (36,967,906) 60,011,200
Change in inventories (8,944,491) (2,948,711)
Change in trade receivables (53,581,781) 16,275,152
Change in other receivables, deposits and prepayments (1,144,895) (208,610,748)
Change in loan and interest receivables 63,043,679 (8,962,642)
Change in amount due from a shareholder 15,535,030 (5,109,242)
Change in trade and other payables 29,500,259 (19,604,811)
Change in contract liabilities 2,426,788 7,946,236
Cash generated from/(used in) operations 9,866,683 (161,008,566)

Income tax paid

(14,346,381)

(14,283,414)

Net cash flows used in operating activities

(4,479,698)

(175,286,980)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 March 2022

Annual Report 2021 - 2022

2022 2021
HK$ HK$
(restated)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (290,254) (292,745)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment - 215,484
Increase in loans advanced to independent third parties - (10,949,778)
Bank interest received 42,385 142,875
Net cash flows used in investing activities (247,869) (10,884,164)
Cash flows from financing activities
Interests paid (15,619,125) (3,537,329)
Capital element of lease liabilities paid (8,676,244) (9,756,238)
Issue of convertible bonds, net of issuance expenses - 493,292,470
Repayment of bonds (20,000,000) (50,000,000)
Change in amount due to a shareholder 61,235 i
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from financing activities (44,234,134) 429,998,903
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (48,961,701) 243,827,759
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 1,586,743 381,235
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 251,236,954 7,027,960
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 203,861,996 251,236,954
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents
Bank and cash balances 203,861,996 251,236,954
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2022

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
The Company was incorporated in the Bermuda with limited liability. The address of its registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. The address of its principal place of business is 32/F, Cambridge
House, Taikoo Place, 979 King’s Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally engaged in trading of goods and
commodities and money lending business.

Referring to the announcement of the Company dated on 20 June 2022 and 21 June 2022, the trading of ordinary
shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange has been halted since 21 June 2022.

Referring to the announcements of the Company dated on 26 July 2022 and 15 November 2023, the Company
has been notified by the Stock Exchange of the resumption guidance (the “ Resumption Guidance”) for the
Company including (i) publish all outstanding financial results required under the Listing Rules and address any
audit modifications, (ii) demonstrate the Company’ s compliance with Rule 13.24 of the Listing Rules, (iii) conduct
an appropriate independent forensic investigation, announce the findings and take appropriate remedial actions,
(iv) demonstrate that there is no reasonable regulatory concern about the management integrity and/or the integrity
of any persons with substantial influence over the Company’s management and operations, which may pose a risk
to investors and damage market confidence, (v) conduct an independent internal control review and demonstrate
that the Company has in place adequate internal controls and procedures to meet its obligations under the Listing
Rules, (vi) announce all material information for the Company’s shareholders and investors to appraise its position
and (vii) re-comply with Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A, 3.21, 3.25 and 3.27A of the Listing Rules.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “ HKICPA”) that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning on 1 April 2021. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations. The adoption of
these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to the Group’s accounting policies, presentation
of the Group’s consolidated financial statements and amounts reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective. The
Group has already commenced an assessment of the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a
position to state whether these new and revised HKFRSs would have a material impact on its results of operations
and financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2022

Prior year adjustments

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

During the finalisation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group of the year ended 31 March 2022,
the management has carried out a reassessment and identified certain adjustments in the consolidated financial
statements of prior years. The effect of the prior year adjustments in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2021 is set out below:

Year ended

Note

31 March 2021

HK$
(previously
reported)

Prior year
adjustments
HK$

Year ended

31 March 2021

HK$

(restated)

Revenue
Cost of sales

1,216,714,366
(1,120,319,204)

1,216,714,366
(1,120,319,204)

Gross profit 96,395,162 - 96,395,162
Other income and gain (a) 1,713,658 (84,937,308) (83,2283,650)
Net allowance for expected credit losses (11,375,238) - (11,375,238)
Share of result of an associate (13,961) - (13,961)
Selling and distribution expenses (2,418,259) - (2,418,259)
Impairment on investment in an associate (214,289) - (214,289)
General and administrative expenses (45,828,578) - (45,828,578)
Finance cost (a) (18,023,964) 11,556,298 (6,467,666)
Profit/(loss) before tax 20,234,531 (73,381,010) (53,146,479)
Income tax expenses (a) (7,024,278) (1,185,587) (8,209,865)
Profit/(loss) for the year 18,210,253 (74,566,597) (61,356,344)
Other comprehensive income for the year
Item that may be reclassified subsequently

to profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on

translating foreign operations 16,048,429 - 16,048,429

Other comprehensive income for the year 16,048,429 - 16,048,429
Total comprehensive income for the year 29,258,682 (74,566,597) (45,307,915)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company 18,207,234 (74,566,597) (61,359,363)

Non-controlling interests 3,019 - 3,019
Total comprehensive income/(expense)

for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company 29,255,663 (74,566,597) (45,310,934)

Non-controlling interests 3,019 - 3,019
Earnings/(loss) per share

Basic and diluted (HK cents) 0.20 (1.15) (0.95)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

The effect of the adjustments in the respective line items of the consolidated financial positions of the Group as
at 31 March 2021 is as follows:

As at As at
31 March Prior year 31 March
2021 adjustments 2021
HKS$ HKS$ HK$
(previously
Note reported) (restated)
Current Liability
Convertible bond - 11,814,276 11,814,276
Non-current liabilities
Convertible bond (@) 478,709,119 (464,947,678) 13,761,441
Deferred tax liabilities (@) 4,505,234 (4,505,234) -
483,214,353 (457,638,6306) 25,575,717
Total effects on net assets 852,079,139 457,638,636 1,309,717,775
Total effects on equity 852,079,139 457,638,636 1,309,717,775
Total effects on convertible bond reserves 22,091,476 532,205,233 554,296,709
Total effects on accumulated losses (225,720,985) (74,566,597) (300,287,582)

a. To adjust recognition of convertible bond in proper classification and valuation
The adjustment is to recognise convertible bond issued on 30 October 2020 in proper classification between
liabilities and equity portion and valuation. The corresponding impact on convertible bond, convertible bond
reserve, loss on initial recognition of convertible bond, finance cost and deferred tax liabilities have been
adjusted accordingly.

There is no effects of restatements on the consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 April 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA,
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest dollar
except when otherwise indicated.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the management of the Group to exercise their judgments in the
process of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgments and areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to these consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set
out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made
up to 31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when it
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has existing rights
that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by
other parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss of control represents the difference between
(i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in that subsidiary and
(i) the Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary
and any related accumulated exchange reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position and consolidated statement
of changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and consolidated statement of comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between the non-controlling interests and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not control or joint control over those policies.
The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible, including potential
voting rights held by other entities, are considered when assessing whether the Group has significant influence. In
assessing whether a potential voting right contributes to significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial
ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements by the equity method and is
initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are measured at their
fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’ s share of the net fair value
of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying
amount of the investment and is tested for impairment together with the investment at the end of each reporting
period when there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit
or loss.

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and
its share of the post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the consolidated reserves. The cumulative
post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’ s share
of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of those profits
only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Associates (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a loss of significant influence represents the
difference between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in
that associate and (i) the Group’s share of the net assets of that associate plus any remaining goodwill relating to
that associate and any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If an investment in an associate
becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure
the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Foreign currency translation

(@) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss on a non-
monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency different from the
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

(i)  Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

(i) Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

(i)~ All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities
and of borrowings are recognised in the exchange reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rate is as follows:

Furniture and fixtures 33.3%
Computer equipment 33.3%
Leasehold improvement 33.3%
Motor vehicles 16.7%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases
The Group as lessee
Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets are available
for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful
life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Land and buildings 33.3-50.0%

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present value
of the lease payments discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or
otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12
months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value below US$5,000.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to its present location and condition, is
calculated using the first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less further
costs expected to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained control on the
assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss.



66

YNBY International Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is
under a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe established by the market concerned,
and are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the case of investments
at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified as financial assets at amortised cost.

Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

— the assets are held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less loss allowance for
expected credit losses.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses
The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected
credit losses are the weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount
equal to the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over the expected life of that financial
instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”) for trade receivables or if the credit risk on that financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial instrument (other than trade receivables) has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument
at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that represents the expected credit losses that
result from default events on that financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.
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Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand
and demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument
is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The
accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost.

Convertible bonds

Convertible loans which entitle the holder to convert the loans into a fixed number of equity instruments at a fixed
conversion price are regarded as compound instruments consist of a liability and an equity component. At the
date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for
similar non-convertible debt. The fair value of any derivative features embedded in the compound instruments is
included in the liability component. The difference between the proceeds of issue of the convertible loans and the
fair values assigned to the liability component, representing the embedded option for the holder to convert the loans
into equity of the Group, is included in equity as capital reserve. The liability component is carried as a liability at
amortised cost using the effective interest method until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The derivative
components are measured at fair value with gains and losses recognised in profit or loss.

If the identifiable consideration received by the Group appears to be less than the fair value of the convertible
loans issued, the Group measures the unidentifiable services received (to be received) as the difference between
the fair value of the convertible loans issued and that of the identifiable consideration received, and the difference
is recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the convertible loans based
on their relative carrying amounts at the date of issue. The portion relating to the equity component is charged
directly to equity.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer with reference to the
customary business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised product or service exceeds one
year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control over a product or
service to a customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a performance
obligation can be satisfied over time or at a point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time if:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

—  the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is recognised by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the product or service.

Other revenue
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Employee benefits

(a) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(b) Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
subject to a ceiling of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The Group also participates in a defined contribution retirement scheme organised by the government in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The Group is required to contribute a specific percentage of the payroll
of its employees to the retirement scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the retirement scheme. No forfeited contributions may be used by the
employers to reduce the existing level of contributions.
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Employee benefits (Continued)
(c) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on
that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings
of the Group that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the purpose of
obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants
A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them
with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Government grants relating to the purchase of assets are deducted from the carrying amount of the assets. The
grant is recognised in profit or loss over the life of a depreciable asset by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Repayment of a grant related to income is applied first against any unamortised deferred income set up in respect
of the grant. To the extent that the repayment exceeds any such deferred income, or where no deferred income
exists, the repayment is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Repayment of a grant related to an asset is
recorded by increasing the carrying amount of the asset or reducing the deferred income by the amount repayable.
The cumulative additional depreciation that would have been recognised in profit or loss to date in the absence of
the grant is recognised immediately in profit or loss.



70

YNBY International Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect
of non market-based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-
based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are measured at the fair value of the services rendered or
if the fair value of the services rendered cannot be reliably measured, at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The fair value is measured at the date the Group receives the services and is recognised as an expense.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in
profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences, unused
tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
an associate, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(i

(ii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or of a parent of the Company.

(B) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)

(if)

(ii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (A).

A person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel services
to the Company or to a parent of the Company.
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Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purpose
of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of the Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of productions processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually material
may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets except inventories,
receivables and deferred tax assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.
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Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and
are reflected in the financial statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when material.

KEY ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(@) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values and related depreciation charges for the
Group’s property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise
the depreciation charge where useful lives and residual values are different to those previously estimated, or
it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

(b) Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts based on assessments of the recoverability of
the trade, loan and other receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past collection history of
each debtor. Impairments arise where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not
be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where
the actual result is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of the
trade and other receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the year in which such estimate has been changed.

(c) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation
and impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment
and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may
affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount,
being the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and the net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate. When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs. Changing
the assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections,
could materially affect the net present value used in the impairment test.
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5.

KEY ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d) Net realisable value of inventories
Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and selling expense. These estimates are based on the current market condition and the
historical experience of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. It could change significantly as
a result of changes in customer taste and competitor actions. The Group will reassess the estimates by the
end of each reporting period.

(e) Income taxes
The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required in determining
the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables, loan and interest receivables, other receivables
and deposits, amount due from a shareholder, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables, bond,
convertible bond and amounts due to a shareholder. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments including market risk (currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. According to the Group’s risk management policies and guidelines, the financial
risk shall be assessed continuously by the management taken into account of the prevailing conditions of the
financial market and other relevant variables to avoid excessive concentrations of risk. The Group has not used
any derivatives or other instruments for hedging purpose. The most significant financial risks to which the Group
is exposed to are described below.

(@) Credit risk
The carrying amounts of bank balances, trade receivables, loan and interest receivables, other receivables
and deposits and amount due from a shareholder included in the consolidated statement of financial position
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the Group’s financial assets.

It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. Amounts
due from related companies are closely monitored by the directors.

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-ratings agencies.

A quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising trade receivables are set
out in notes 23 to the consolidated financial statements.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Credit risk (Continued)
The Group is subject to the credit risk from the recoverability of loan and interest receivables and other
receivables and deposits. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated
a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual receivable at each reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
recognised for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors consider that the Group’s credit risk in
relation to loan and other receivables is significantly reduced.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the
consolidated statements of financial position. The Group does not provide any guarantees which would expose
the Group to credit risk.

The Group considers whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk of financial assets on an
ongoing basis throughout each reporting period by comparing the risk of a default occurring as at the reporting
date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information. Especially the following information is used:

— internal credit rating;

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the borrower; and

— significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of the borrower, including changes in
the payment status of borrowers.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a contractual
payment. A default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to make contractual payments within
60 days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group. The Group normally categorises a loan or receivable for write off
when a debtor fails to make contractual payments greater than 360 days past due. Where loans or receivables
have been written off, the Group, if practicable and economical, continues to engage in enforcement activity
to attempt to recover the receivable due.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Loan and interest receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk arising from money lending business, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for the determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The team monitors customers’
repayment ability, requests the customers to provide collaterals and reviews the fair value of the collaterals. In
addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end of the reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’ s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer.
Therefore, significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. 4% (2021: 4%) of the total loan and interest receivables as at 31 March 2022 was due
from the largest borrower from the money lending segment and 21% (2021: 20%) of the total loan and interest
receivables as at 31 March 2022 was due from the five largest borrowers from the money lending segment.

Lifetime Lifetime
ECL (not ECL
credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
At 31 March 2022
ECL rate - - 100% 100%
Gross carrying amount (HK$) - - 478,842,967 478,842,967
Lifetime ECL = = (478,842,967) (478,842,967)
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL (not ECL
credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
At 31 March 2021
ECL rate 0.19% 1.16% 15.68% 2.21%
Gross carrying amount (HK$) 366,363,869 108,500,000 63,250,000 538,113,869
Lifetime ECL (697,519) (1,260,362) (9,915,730) (11,873,611)
365,666,350 107,239,638 53,334,270 526,240,258
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Loan and interest receivables (Continued)
Movement of allowance for ECL is as follows:

Lifetime Lifetime
ECL (not ECL
credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
At 31 March 2020 1,059,044 - - 1,059,044
Transfer from 12m ECL (588,213) 454,433 133,780 -
Allowance for ECL 566,120 805,929 9,781,950 11,153,999
Reversal of allowances for ECL (339,432) - - (339,432)
At 31 March 2021 and
1 April 2021 697,519 1,260,362 9,915,730 11,873,611
Transfer from 12m ECL (697,519) - 697,519 -
Allowance for ECL = - 466,969,356 466,969,356
Transfer from Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired) - (1,260,362) 1,260,362 -
At 31 March 2022 - - 478,842,967 478,842,967

Trade receivables

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 29% (2021: 82%) and 80% (2021: 100%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers respectively at 31
March 2022.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the
use of the lifetime ECL provision for all trade receivables. To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics. The Group has performed historical analysis and identified
the key economic variables impacting credit risk and expected credit loss. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information.

7.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual
debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly

reduced.
0-90 91-180 181-365 Over 365
days days days days Total
At 31 March 2022
ECL rate 0.00% 0.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Gross carrying amount (HK$) 47,785,097 138,971 12,741,902 771,636 61,437,606
Lifetime ECL (HK$) - - (12,741,902) (771,636) (13,513,538)
47,924,068
0-90 91-180 181-365 Over 365
days days days days Total
At 31 March 2021
ECL rate 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Gross carrying amount (HK$) 7,586,210 - - - 7,586,210
Lifetime ECL (HK$) (24,787) - - - (24,787)
7,661,423

Movement in the allowance for ECL of trade receivables
Movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables in accordance with the simplified
approach ECL, are as follows:

HK$
At 31 March 2020 235,372
Allowance for ECL 24,787
Reversal of allowances for ECL (235,372)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 24,787
Allowance for ECL 13,529,676
Reversal of allowances for ECL (25,837)
Exchange realignment (15,088)

At 31 March 2022 13,513,538
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables

For other receivables relating to accounts that are long overdue with significant amounts, known insolvencies
or non-response to collection activities, they are assessed individually for impairment allowance. The Group
recognised the provision for ECL by assessing the credit risk characteristics of debtor, discount rate and the
likelihood of recovery and considering the prevailing economic conditions. The Group recognised reversal of
impairment loss of HK$1,082,767 (2021:nil) and impairment loss of HK$563,979,530 (2021: impairment loss
of HK$771,256) in respect of other receivables for the year ended 31 March 2022. The expected credit loss
rate for other receivables is 0.00% (2021: 3.10%). The management of the Group believes that there is no
significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition and the Group provided impairment
pbased on 12m ECL.

The movement of loss allowance for ECL on other receivables is as follows:

Lifetime Lifetime

ECL (not ECL

credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
At 31 March 2020 272,228 - - 272,228
Allowance for ECL 771,256 - - 771,256
Reversal of allowances for ECL - - - -
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 1,043,484 = = 1,043,484
Transfer from 12m ECL (1,043,484) = 1,043,484 =
Allowance for ECL - - 563,979,530 563,979,530
Reversal of allowances for ECL - - (1,082,767) (1,082,767)
Exchange realignment - - (162,475) (162,475)
At 31 March 2022 - - 563,777,772 563,777,772
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Directors monitor and maintain a level of bank balances deemed
adequate to finance the Group’s operations, investment opportunities and expected expansion. The Group
finances its working capital requirements mainly by the funds generated from operations and from funds raising
activities such as issue of convertible bond.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of reporting period) and

the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

At 31 March 2022

Total

On demand or contractual
less than undiscounted Carrying
1 year 1-5 years cash flow amounts
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Trade and other payables 58,439,651 - 58,439,651 58,439,651
Convertible bond 15,000,000 - 15,000,000 13,761,441
Amounts due to a shareholder 61,235 - 61,235 61,235
Lease liabilities 5,363,601 3,520,143 8,883,744 8,616,634
78,864,487 3,520,143 82,384,630 80,878,961

At 31 March 2021

Total

On demand or contractual
less than undiscounted Carrying
1 year 1-5 years cash flow amounts
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Trade and other payables 28,186,258 - 28,186,258 28,186,258
Bonds 20,218,472 - 20,218,472 19,954,171
Convertible bond 15,000,000 15,000,000 30,000,000 18,761,441
Lease liabilities 8,632,627 7,218,398 15,751,025 15,212,447
71,937,357 22,218,398 94,155,755 77,114,317
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(c) Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest-bearing bank deposits and convertible bond bear interest at fixed interest rate and
therefore are subject to fair value interest rate risks. The interest rate and repayment terms of the convertible
bond outstanding at the year end are disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk mainly in relation to variable-rate bank balances. Sensitivity
of the Group’s loss for the year to a reasonable change in the interest rate is assessed to be immaterial.

(d) Currency risk
The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional currencies of the group entities. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency assets and liabilities. The
Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

(e) Categories of financial instruments at 31 March

2022 2021
HK$ HK$
(restated)
Financial assets:
Financial assets at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents)
— Trade receivables 47,924,068 7,561,423
— Loan and interest receivable = 530,013,035
— Financial assets included in other receivables and deposits 49,955,119 36,092,527
= Amount due from a shareholder - 15,535,030
— Cash and cash equivalents 203,861,996 251,236,954
301,741,183 840,438,969
Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
— Financial liabilities included in trade and other payables 58,439,651 28,186,258
— Bonds - 19,954,171
— Amount due from a shareholder 61,235 -
= Convertible bond 13,761,441 13,761,441
— Lease liabilities 8,616,634 15,212,447
80,878,961 77,114,317

(f) Fair values
All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially different from their fair values as at 31 March
2022 and 2021.
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value measurements use a
fair value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs:
can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs:
liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company

inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the

event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

8. REVENUE
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
Money lending 482,522 87,780,178
Trading of goods and commodities 179,045,229 1,128,934,188
Total 179,527,751 1,216,714,366
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers:
Segments 2022 2021
HK$ HK$
Geographical markets
Hong Kong 154,387,451 310,509,088
The People’s Republic of China 24,761,362 903,447,879
Others 378,938 2,757,399
Total 179,527,751 1,216,714,366
Timing of revenue recognition
At a point in time 179,045,229 1,128,934,188
Over time 482,522 87,780,178
Total 179,527,751 1,216,714,366
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8. REVENUE (CONTINUED)
Financing services
The Group provides money lending service to the customers. Money lending income is recognised when the related
service is rendered and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the service.

General trading

The Group sells CBD isolate, goods and other commodities to the customers. Sales are recognised when control
of the products has transferred, being when the products are delivered to a customer, there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products and the customer has obtained legal titles

to the products.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms ranged from 45 to 90 days.

9. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

2022 2021

HK$ HK$

(restated)

Bank interest income 42,385 142,875
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 177,905
Wage subsidies from government - 1,224,900

Loss on initial recognition of convertible bond (note 3)
Impairment of inventory

(18,651,927)

(84,937,308)

Written-off of property, plant and equipment (396,784) -
Exchange loss (964,282) -
Others 944,748 167,978

(19,025,860)

(83,223,650)

10. FINANCE COSTS

2022 2021

HK$ HK$

(restated)

Interest expenses on lease liabilities 400,653 562,518
Interest expenses

— Effective interest expense on bonds (Note 32) 264,301 4,262,500

— Effective interest expense on convertible bond (Note 33) 3,185,724 1,642,648

Finance costs expenses 3,850,678 6,467,666
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11.INCOME TAX EXPENSES

2022 2021
HK$ HK$
(restated)

Current tax
— Hong Kong Profits Tax = 9,765,494
— Enterprise Income Tax in the PRC 40,375 251,608
Deferred tax (note 20) 2,167,191 (1,807,237)
Under provision in prior years 1,231,277 -
3,438,843 8,209,865

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018
and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.
The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a
flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC is 25% during the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: 25%).

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and loss before tax multiplied by the tax rate applicable to
losses in the countries concerned is as follows:

2022 2021

HK$ HK$

(restated)

Loss before tax (1,113,881,114) (53,146,479)
Notional tax credit on loss before income tax, calculated at the rates

applicable to profits in the countries concerned (208,201,672) (9,5657,812)

Tax effect on share of loss of an associate - 2,304

Tax effect on non-deductible expenses 73,610,226 16,075,595

Tax effect on non-taxable income (159,139) (359,601)

Under provision in prior years 1,231,277 -

Tax effect on tax losses not recognised 134,811,148 1,068,792

Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised 2,147,003 1,185,587

Statutory tax concession = (205,000)

Income tax expenses 3,438,843 8,209,865
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12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR
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The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the following:

2022 2021
HK$ HK$
Depreciation
= right-of-use assets (Note 18) 8,729,840 9,180,059
— property, plant and equipment (Note 17) 992,124 1,289,938
9,721,964 10,469,997
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment = (177,905)
Auditor’s remuneration 1,500,000 1,100,000
Cost of inventories sold 175,180,018 1,120,319,204
Net allowance for expected credit losses:
Allowance for ECL on trade receivables 13,529,676 24,787
Reversal of allowance for ECL on trade receivables (25,837) (235,372)
Allowance for ECL on other receivables 563,979,530 771,256
Reversal of allowance for ECL on other receivables (1,082,767) -
Allowance for ECL on loan and interest receivables 466,969,356 11,153,999
Reversal of allowance for ECL on loan receivables - (339,432)
1,043,369,958 11,375,238
Expenses relating to short-term lease 200,400 196,800
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration):
— salaries, bonuses and allowances 16,169,245 15,051,251
= retirement benefits scheme contributions 727,480 563,229
16,896,725 15,614,480
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments

2022

Contributions

to defined

contribution

Basic retirement  Discretionary
Fees salaries plans bonus Total
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Executive directors

Chow Wang (note (5)&(7)) - 1,272,000 18,000 106,000 1,396,000
Wang Zhaoqing (note (7)) - 699,600 18,000 58,300 775,900
Chu Ka Wa (note (1)) - 519,400 10,500 61,800 591,700
Wang Minghui (note (4)) - 219,571 11,419 21,200 252,190
Yin Pingyao - 254,400 13,160 21,200 288,760
Dong Ming (note (3)&(6)) - - - - -
Liu Zhouyang (note (2)) - 370,667 7,500 - 378,167

Non-executive directors
Fong For (note (4)) 219,571 - - - 219,571
Qian Yinghui (note (2)&(6)) - - - - -

Independent non-executive directors

Leung Ka Kui (note (8)) 254,400 - - - 254,400
Wong Chui San, Susan (note (8)) 254,400 - - - 254,400
Jiang Zhi (note (8)) 254,400 - - - 254,400

982,771 3,335,638 78,579 268,500 4,665,488
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(a) Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2022

2021
Contributions
to defined
contribution
retirement Discretionary
Fees  Basic salaries plans bonus Total
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Executive directors
Chow Wang (note (5)&(7)) i 1,272,000 18,000 106,000 1,396,000
Wang Zhaoqing (note (7)) - 699,600 18,000 58,300 775,900
Chu Ka Wa (note (1)) - 890,400 18,000 74,200 982,600
Wang Minghui (note (4)) - 254,400 13,160 21,200 288,760
Yin Pinyao - 254,400 13,160 21,200 288,760
Non-executive directors
Fong For (note (4)) 254,400 - - - 254,400
Independent non-executive director
Leung Ka Kui (note (8)) 254,400 - - - 254,400
Wong Chui San, Susan (note (8)) 254,400 - - - 254,400
Jiang Zhi (note (8)) 254,400 - - - 254,400
1,017,600 3,370,800 80,320 280,900 4,749,620

Notes

(1) Resigned on 1 November 2021

(2)  Appointed on 11 February 2022

(3)  Appointed on 17 January 2022

(4)  Resigned on 11 February 2022

(5)  Mr. Chow Wang’s emoluments disclosed above include those services rendered by him as the Chief Executive Officer.

(6)  Agreed not to receive any remuneration during the year

(7)  Removed on 16 August 2022

(8)  Resigned on 10 November 2023

(9) Mr. Tang Ming was appointed executive director and Mr. Huang Eric Bin was appointed non-executive director on 19 August 2022.
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(a) Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments (Continued)
During the year, Mr. Dong Ming, executive director of the Company, and Mr. Qian Yinghui, non-executive
director of the Company have not received any emoluments. There was no arrangement under which a director
and chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no emolument was paid by the Group to the directors and
chief executives as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.
During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no housing allowance, other allowances and benefits in
kind were paid by the Group to the directors and chief executives in respect of their services as directors and
chief executives.

(b) Five highest paid individuals
The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two (2021: two) directors whose emoluments are

included in the disclosures in note 13(a) to the consolidated financial statements above.

The emoluments of the three (2021: three) individuals other than the directors of the Company was as follows:

2022 2021

HK$ HK$

Salaries and allowances 3,134,560 3,372,000
Retirement scheme contributions 54,000 54,000
3,188,560 3,426,000

No discretionary bonus was paid or receivable by the three individuals other than the directors of the Company
during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

The emoluments of the three (2021: three) individuals with the highest emoluments are within the following band:

2022 2021

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

Nil = HK$ 1,000,000 2 2
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1 1

None of the directors and these highest paid employees waived any emoluments or received any inducement
to join or compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.
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14.

15.

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated based on the loss for the year ended 31 March 2022 attributable to the owners of
the Company of approximately HK$1,117,313,589 (2021 (restated): HK$61,359,363) and on the weighted average
number of 6,448,152,160 ordinary shares (2021: 6,448,152,160 ordinary shares).

Diluted loss per share

As the exercise of the Group’s outstanding convertible bonds for both years would be anti-dilutive and there was
no dilutive potential ordinary shares for the Company’s outstanding options, no diluted earnings per share was
presented as same as basic loss per share in both years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

SEGMENT REPORTING

Information reported to the executive directors and senior management, being the chief operating decision maker
(“*CODM”), the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focus on types of goods
or services delivered or provided. No operating segments identified by the chief operating decision maker have
been aggregated in arriving at the reporting segments of the Group.

In previous years, the Group reported its primary segment information based on three major operating and reportable
segments including (i) money lending; (ii) trading of goods and commodities; and (iii) trading of CBD isolate.

During the current year, management has changed the presentation of the information reported to the CODM, due
to the scale down of trading of CBD isolate as a result of the tighten regulations of CBD products in the world and
for a more meaningful presentation of its business operations, consistent with the Group’ s long-term strategy
and for the purpose of allocating resources to the segments and assessing the performance of the segments.
The information reported to CODM in respect of the Group’s business is based on the operating and reportable
segments mentioned below.

In compliance with the requirement of HKFRS 8 “ Operating Segments”, the change of the presentation of the
information reported to CODM has led to change in the segment report for prior period. The Group is now organised
into the two operating and reportable segments as (i) money lending; and (i) trading of goods and commodities.
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)
(a) Segment revenue and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable and operating segment.

Trading of
Money goods and
lending commodities Total
HK$ HK$ HK$
Year ended 31 March 2022
Revenue
External sales 482,522 179,045,229 179,527,751
Segment result (469,368,817) (609,368,425) (1,078,737,242)
Year ended 31 March 2021
Revenue
External sales 87,780,178 1,128,934,188 1,216,714,366
Segment result 73,513,121 (1,039,369) 72,473,752
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
(restated)
Segment result (1,078,737,242) 72,473,752
Unallocated income, gains and losses (641,010) 1,393,690

Unallocated expenses (30,652,184) (120,532,294)

Loss from operations (1,110,030,436) (46,664,852)
Finance costs (3,850,678) (6,467,666)
Share of loss of an associate - (13,961)

Loss before tax
Income tax expenses

(1,113,881,114)
(3,438,843)

(53,146,479)
(8,209,865)

Loss for the year (1,117,319,957) (61,356,344)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment
result represents the (loss incurred)/profit earned from each segment without allocation of certain items, mainly
comprising interest revenue, depreciation, central administration costs, directors’ and chief executives’ salaries,
finance costs, share of loss of an associate and initial loss on convertible bond. This is the measure reported
to the chief operating decision makers for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities

Trading of
Money goods and
lending commodities Total
HK$ HK$ HK$
As at 31 March 2022
Segment assets 8,056,510 193,780,212 201,836,722
Unallocated assets 119,916,674
321,753,396
Segment liabilities (440,022) (87,480,973) (87,920,995)
Unallocated liabilities (30,655,683)
(118,576,678)
As at 31 March 2021 (restated)
Segment assets 614,186,861 658,361,505 1,272,548,366
Unallocated assets 170,055,952
1,442,604,318
Segment liabilities (9,054,701) (567,157,800) (66,212,501)
Unallocated liabilities (66,674,042)

(132,886,543)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments:

— all assets are allocated to reportable and operating segments other than certain property, plant and
equipment, certain right-of-use assets, investment in an associate, certain other receivables, deposits
and prepayments and certain bank balances and cash which are managed on a group basis.

— all liabilities are allocated to reportable and operating segments other than certain other payables,
convertible bond, bonds and certain lease liabilities which are managed on a group basis.
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(c) Other segment information

Trading of
Money goods and
lending commodities Unallocated Total
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Year ended 31 March 2022
Amounts included in the measure of segment
profit or loss or segment assets:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 37,401 537,760 416,963 992,124
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 499,653 1,593,325 6,636,862 8,729,840
Additions to non-current assets (Note) 47,891 2,315,451 998 2,364,340
Bank interest income - 4,474 37,911 42,385
Allowance for ECL on trade receivables - 13,529,676 - 13,529,676
Reversal of allowance for ECL on trade receivables - (25,837) - (25,837)
Allowance for ECL on loan and interest receivables 466,969,356 - - 466,969,356
Reversal of allowance for ECL on other receivables - (1,082,767) - (1,082,767)
Allowance for ECL on other receivables - 563,979,530 - 563,979,530
Year ended 31 March 2021
Amounts included in the measure of
segment profit or loss or segment assets:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 65,855 509,909 714,174 1,289,938
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 502,447 1,636,947 7,040,665 9,180,059
Additions to non-current assets (Note) 1,062,062 2,982,017 7,257,474 11,301,553
Bank interest income = 16,696 126,179 142,875
Allowance for ECL on trade receivables - 24,787 - 24,787
Reversal of allowance for ECL on trade receivables - (235,372) - (235,372)
Allowance for ECL on other receivables 366 770,890 - 771,256
Allowance for ECL on loan receivables 11,153,999 - - 11,153,999
Reversal of allowance for ECL on loan receivables (339,432) - - (839,432)

Note: Non-current assets excluded investment in an associate and deferred tax assets.
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(d) Geographic information

The Group’s operations are mainly located in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is presented based on the location of operations.
Information about the Group’s non-current assets, excluding investment in an associate, is presented based

on the geographical location of the assets.

Revenue Non-current assets

2022 2021 2022 2021

HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$

Hong Kong 154,387,451 310,509,088 7,598,525 18,766,325
PRC (excluding Hong Kong) 24,761,362 903,447,879 2,116,262 1,138,247
Others 378,938 2,757,399 - -
Consolidated total 179,527,751 1,216,714,366 9,714,787 19,904,572

(e) Revenue from major customers:

2022 2021

HK$ HK$

Customer A’ 90,675,705 675,656,836
Customer B! 62,649,435 N/A?

U Revenue from trading of goods and commodities.

& Customer A and B are independent third parties.

16. DIVIDENDS

The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of the Group.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture
and Computer Leasehold Motor
fixtures equipment improvement vehicles Total
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Cost:
At 1 April 2020 953,601 465,561 3,672,462 4,741,932 9,833,556
Additions 8,324 65,541 218,880 - 292,745
Disposals - - - (914,873) (914,873)
Exchange differences 127,989 26,057 - 199,268 353,314
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 1,089,914 557,159 3,891,342 4,026,327 9,564,742
Additions 218,734 71,520 - - 290,254
Written-off - - - (732,524) (732,524)
Exchange differences 30,002 17,931 - - 47,933
At 31 March 2022 1,338,650 646,610 3,891,342 3,293,803 9,170,405
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment:

At 1 April 2020 531,318 278,383 2,875,384 2,797,784 6,482,869
Charge for the year 66,527 107,325 390,500 725,586 1,289,938
Disposals - - - (877,294) (877,294)
Exchange differences 73,032 71,791 - 162,688 307,511
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 670,877 457,499 3,265,884 2,808,764 7,203,024
Charge for the year 137,834 50,532 402,660 401,098 992,124
Written-off - - - (335,740) (335,740)
Exchange differences 13,119 3,968 - - 17,087
At 31 March 2022 821,830 511,999 3,668,544 2,874,122 7,876,495
Carrying amount:
At 31 March 2022 516,820 134,611 222,798 419,681 1,293,910

At 31 March 2021 419,037 99,660 625,458 1,217,563 2,361,718
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18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

2022 2021
HK$ HK$
At 31 March:
Right-of-use assets
— Land and buildings 8,420,877 15,072,472
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flows,
of the Group’s lease liabilities is as follows:
— Less than 1 year 5,363,601 8,532,627
— Between 1 and 2 years 3,520,143 7,218,398
8,883,744 15,751,025
Year ended 31 March:
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
— Land and buildings 8,729,840 9,180,059
Lease interests 400,653 562,518
Expenses related to short-term leases 200,400 196,800
Total cash outflow for leases 9,277,296 9,953,038
Additions to right-of-use assets 2,074,086 11,008,808

The Group leases various land and buildings. Lease agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 2 to 3 years.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.
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19. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

2022 2021
HK$ HK$

Unlisted investments in Hong Kong
Share of net assets - 214,289
Impairment losses - (214,289)

The following table shows information of the associate of the Group. These associates are accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements using the equity method. The summarised financial information presented is
based on the HKFRS financial statements of the associates.

Name Era Blue Esports Limited 2021
Principal place of business/country of incorporation HK/HK
Principal activities Provision of esports services
% of ownership interests/voting rights held by the Group (note) 23.57%
HKS
At 31 March:
Current assets 902,503
Non-current assets 6,656
Net assets 909,159
Group’s share of carrying amount of interests 214,289

Year ended 31 March

Revenue -
Expenses (59,233)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year (59,233)

Note: Era Blue Esports Limited was deregistered on 4 March 2022.
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20. DEFERRED TAX

The following are the major deferred tax assets recognised by the Group (restated).

Depreciation

Allowance in excess of

for ECL on trade the related

receivables and depreciation
loan receivables allowances Total
HK$ HK$ HK$
At 1 April 2020 177,549 182,405 359,954
Credited to profit or loss (note 11) 1,781,591 25,646 1,807,237
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 1,959,140 208,051 2,167,191
Charged to profit or loss (note 11) (1,959,140) (208,051) (2,167,191)

At 31 March 2022 - = -

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for statement of financial position purposes:

2022 2021
HK$ HK$
Deferred tax assets - 2,167,191

At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused tax losses of HK$818,474,492 (2021: HK$7,359,165)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams.

21.INVENTORIES
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
Finished goods 6,794,775 16,343,625

The directors of the Company have assessed the net realisable values and condition of the Group’ s inventories
as at 31 March 2022 and made an impairment of inventory of HK$18,651,927 (2021: Nil).
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22. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Place/country of Particulars of  Proportion of  Proportion of
incorporation (or issued and ownership ownership
establishment)/ paid-up capital/ interest interest
Name of subsidiaries operations registered capital 2022 2021  Principal activities
Ban Loong Finance Company Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Money lending
Wan Long Xing Ye Commercial Trading PRC HK$225,000,000 100% 100%  Trading of goods and
(Shenzhen) Limited* commodities
EREXHER) ARAF)
Wan Long Xing Ye Commercial Trading Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Trading of goods and
(Hong Kong) Limited commodities
Ban Loong Hemp Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Trading of CBD isolate
BL Organicif =t &4 Japan JPY15,112,760 100% 100%  Trading of CBD isolate
Notes:

The entity is foreign-investment enterprise

d The English name is for identification purpose only

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2022 2021
HK$ HK$
Trade receivables 61,437,606 7,586,210
Provision for loss allowance (13,513,538) (24,787)
Carrying amount 47,924,068 7,561,423
Trade receivables are granted an average credit period of 90 days.
The ageing analysis of trade receivables (before allowance for ECL) is as follows:
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
0 to 90 days 47,785,097 7,586,210
91 to 180 days 138,971 -
181 to 365 days 12,741,902 -
Over 365 days 771,636 -

61,437,606 7,686,210
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime
expected loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the ageing. The expected credit losses also incorporate
forward looking information.

0-90 91-180 181-365 Over
days days days 365 days Total
At 31 March 2022
Weighted average expected loss rate 0.00% 0.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Receivable amount (HK$) 47,785,097 138,971 12,741,902 771,636 61,437,606
Loss allowance (HK$) - - (12,741,902) (771,636) (13,513,538)
At 31 March 2021
Weighted average expected loss rate 0.33% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Receivable amount (HK$) 7,586,210 - o . 7,586,210
Loss allowance (HK$) (24,787) - - = (24,787)
24.LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
Loan receivables
- Secured 274,262,968 279,922,283
= Unsecured 204,579,999 258,191,586
Interest receivables = 3,772,777
Provision for loss allowance (478,842,967) (11,873,611)

Carrying amount - 530,013,035
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24.LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The maturity profile of the loan receivables (before allowance for ECL) at the end of the reporting period, analysed
by the maturity date, is as follows:

2022 2021
HK$ HK$
Overdue 478,842,967 -
Within one year - 537,810,678
Two to five years - 303,191
478,842,967 538,113,869

Gross amount analysed for reporting purpose:
Current assets 478,842,967 537,810,678
Non-current assets - 303,191
478,842,967 538,113,869

The secured and unsecured loans advanced to the customers arising under the Group’s money lending business
had an average loan period of 3 months to 5 years (2021: 3 months to 5 years). The loans provided to customers
bore fixed interest rate ranging from 1% — 2.4% (2021: 1% — 2.4%) per month, depending on the individual credit
evaluations of the borrowers. These evaluations focus on the borrowers’ financial background, individual credit
rating, current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the borrowers as well as the guarantees
and/or security from the borrowers. The loans provided to borrowers are repayable in accordance with the loan
agreement, in which interest portion will be repaid in monthly basis while the principal amounts are repayable on
maturity.

The following is an aged analysis of loan and interest receivables, net of allowance of ECL, presented based on
the dates which loans are granted to borrowers and interests are accrued.

2022 2021

HK$ HK$

0 to 90 days - 169,410,827
91 to 180 days = 112,377,087
181 to 365 days = 157,423,447
Over 365 days = 90,801,674
= 530,013,035

With reference to the announcement made by the Company on 25 October 2023 regarding the key findings of the
forensic investigation, the loan and interest receivables are fully impaired.
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25. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

2022 2021

HK$ HK$

Other receivables (Note (i) 312,003,264 33,662,344
Deposit 300,175,487 3,473,667
Prepayments (Note (ii) 2,073,687 566,220,343
Less: allowance for ECL (563,777,772) (1,043,484)
50,474,666 602,312,870

Notes

(i) As at 31 March 2022, included in the balance was advances to suppliers and potential suppliers who are independent third parties in the
amount of HK$70,465 (2021: HK$27,417,350) that are interest-free, unsecured and recoverable on demand.

(ii) Included in the balance was prepayment to suppliers of nil (2021: HK$564,826,401).

26. AMOUNT DUE FROM A SHAREHOLDER

Maximum

amount

outstanding

during

Name 2022 2021 the year
HK$ HK$ HK$

Yunnan Baiyao Group Co., Limited - 15,535,030 15,535,030

At 31 March 2021, the amount due from a shareholder is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

27.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2022 2021
HK$ HK$
Cash and cash equivalents 203,861,996 251,236,954

(@) Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

(b) Included in bank balances of the Group is approximately HK$25,133,208 (2021: HK$7,951,516) of bank
balances denominated in RMB placed with banks in PRC. The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2022 2021

HK$ HK$

Trade payables (Note) 26,432,024 15,536,915
Other payables and accrued charges 32,007,627 12,649,343
58,439,651 28,186,258

Note: The credit period for trade payables ranging from 45 to 180 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that
all payables are settled within the credit time frame.

An ageing analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of reporting period is set out

as follows:
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
0 to 30 days 26,359,755 9,157,356
31 to 60 days - 5,014,980
61 to 90 days 65,221 1,364,579
Over 90 days 7,048 -
26,432,024 15,536,915
29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
Disclosures of contract liabilities are set out as follows:
As at As at As at
31 March 31 March 1 April
2022 2021 2020
HK$ HK$ HK$
Contract liabilities 37,697,717 33,866,293 23,683,820
Transaction prices allocated to performance
obligations unsatisfied at end of year and
expected to be recognised as revenue in:

—2022 - 33,866,293
— 2023 37,697,717 -

37,697,717 33,866,293
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29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 March

2022 2021
HK$ HK$
Revenue recognised in the year that was included in contract
liabilities at beginning of year 33,866,293 23,683,820
Significant changes in contract liabilities during the year:
— Increase due to operations in the year 37,697,717 33,866,293
— Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue (33,866,293) (23,683,820)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer products or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

30. LEASE LIABILITIES

Present value of

Lease payments lease payments

2022 2021 2022 2021

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

Within one year 5,363,601 8,532,627 5,225,728 8,186,810

In the second to fifth years, inclusive 3,520,143 7,218,398 3,390,906 7,025,637

8,883,744 15,751,025 8,616,634 15,212,447

Less: future finance charges (267,110) (538,578) N/A N/A

Present value of lease obligation 8,616,634 15,212,447 8,616,634 15,212,447
Less: amount due for settlement

within 12 months (shown under

current liabilities) (5,225,728) (8,186,810)
Amount due for settlement after

12 months 3,390,906 7,025,637

At 31 March 2022, the average effective borrowing rate was 3.2%. Interest rates are fixed at the contract dates
and thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
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31. AMOUNT DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, the amount due to a shareholder is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

32. BONDS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has unsecured bonds with aggregate principal of nil (2021:HK$20,000,000) with
the following major terms:

Issue price: 100% of the principal amount

Interest: 5.5% per annum payable semi-annually in arrear

Maturity: 7 years from date of issuance unless early redeemed

Early redemption options: — The holder can request for early redemption after the fourth anniversary of

the issue date up to the maturity date at a redemption amount of 80% of the
outstanding principal; and

— The Group can early redeem the bonds after the fifth anniversary of the issue
date up to the maturity date at a redemption amount of 100% of the
outstanding principal.

The movements of the bonds are set out below:

2022 2021
HK$ HK$
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 19,954,171 69,229,000
Effective interest charge for the year (Note 10) 264,301 4,262,500
Principal paid (20,000,000) (50,000,000)
Interest paid (218,472) (3,537,329)
Carrying amount at the end of the year = 19,954,171
Less: Bonds repayable after one year shown under
non-current liabilities - -
Current portion - 19,954,171

The Company’s bonds carry interest at effective interest rate of 7.22% (2021: 7.22%) per annum.
Note:

The repayment obligations of the Company under the instruments of the bonds is guaranteed by Jun Qiao. Under the terms of the subscription
agreements in relation to the bonds, to the extent which is legally permissible, the Company and Jun Qiao undertook to continue to maintain its
interests in the Mining Assets and not to dispose of, transfer or sell any of the Mining Assets until the maturity of the bonds, unless the consent of
the majority of the bondholders is obtained. Due to the purported transfer of 90% equity of Yin Di Mining to Henan Guiyuan and related incidents
as disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 15 January 2017, 22 January 2017 and 1 February 2017, the Company de-consolidated the
De-consolidated Subsidiaries. In addition, the holders of the bonds have the early redemption option to request for early redemption after the fourth
anniversary of the issue date up to the maturity date. The directors of the Company considered that the Group does not have an unconditional right
to defer settlement of the bonds for at least 12 months after the reporting period and hence classified the bonds as current liabilities.
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33. CONVERTIBLE BOND
As at 31 March 2022, the total number of issued ordinary shares (the “Shares”) of the Company was 6,448,152,160
shares (2021: 6,448,152,160 shares).

The Company entered into the subscription agreement with Yunnan Baiyao Group Co., Ltd. (“Yunnan Baiyao Group”)
on 14 October 2019. Pursuant to the subscription agreement and the supplemental subscription agreements, the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue, and Yunnan Baiyao Group has conditionally agreed to subscribe for,
through its trustee, Shanghai International Trust Corp., Ltd., the convertible bond.

The completion of the subscription took place on 30 October 2020 in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the subscription agreement. The principal amount was HK$500 million with coupon rate of 3% per-annum for 2
years. Under the Subscription, the convertible bond have been issued to Shanghai International Trust Corp., Ltd.,
which subscribes and holds the convertible bond on behalf of and as a trustee of Yunnan Baiyao Group. Yunnan
Baiyao Group remains as the beneficial owner of the convertible bond.

Based on the initial conversion price of HK$0.258 per conversion share and assuming there is no other change in
the issued share capital of the Company between the date of this report and the full conversion of the convertible
bond, 1,937,984,496 conversion shares will be allotted and issued by the Company upon exercise in full of the
conversion rights attaching to the convertible bond, representing: (a) approximately 30.05% of the existing issued
share capital of the Company; and (b) approximately 23.11% of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged
by the issue of the 1,937,984,496 Conversion Shares.

At initial recognition the equity component of the convertible bond was separated from the liability component.
The equity element is presented in equity heading “ convertible bond reserve”. The effective interest rate of the
liability component is 16.48%.
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33. CONVERTIBLE BOND (CONTINUED)

The valuation of the convertible bond was performed by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited.

HKS
Nominal value of convertible loan notes issued 500,000,000
Transaction costs (6,707,530)
Issue of convertible bond at 30 October 2020 493,292,470
Less: Equity component (restated) (554,296,709)
Add: Loss on initial recognition of convertible bonds through profit or loss (restated) 84,937,308
Liability component on initial recognition 23,933,069
Interest charged (restated) 1,642,648
Liability component at 31 March 2021 25,575,717
Current portion 11,814,276
Non-current portion 13,761,441
25,575,717
The movement of the equity component of the convertible bond is set out below:
Equity
component
HK$
Carrying amount at 30 October 2020 (restated), 31 March 2021 (restated) and 2022 554,296,709
The movement of the liability component of the convertible bond is set out below:
Liability
component
HK$
Carrying amount at 31 March 2021 25,575,717
Effective interest expenses (Note 10) 3,185,724
Coupon interest paid (15,000,000)

Carrying amount at 31 March 2022 13,761,441
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34.

35.

SHARE CAPITAL
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
Authorised:
20,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 200,000,000 200,000,000
Issued and fully paid:
6,448,152,160 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 64,481,522 64,481,522

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to
one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets. There was no movement of share capital of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2022.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) approved by the shareholders at
an annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 September 2013 (the “Adoption Date”). Under the Share
Option Scheme, the directors of the Company may, at their discretion, invite any participants to take up options to
subscribe for fully paid ordinary shares (“Shares”) in the Company subject to the terms and conditions stipulated
therein.

Details of the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

() Purpose
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognise and acknowledge the contributions and potential
contributions which the participants have made or may make to the Group and to motivating the participants
to utilise their performance and efficiency for the benefit of the Group and attracting and retaining or otherwise
maintaining an on-going relationship with the participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long term growth of the Group.

(ii) Participants
The directors of the Company may, at their discretion, invite any participant (“Participant”) including any
executive director, non-executive director or employee (whether full time or part time), consultant, contractor
to the Group or any entity in which any member of the Group holds any interest (“Invested Entity”).

(iii) Maximum number of shares
(1) 30% Limit
The limit on the number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme of the Company must not exceed 30% of the
Shares in issue from time to time (the “Scheme Limit”).
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35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Maximum number of shares (Continued)

(2) 10% Limit
In addition to the Scheme Limit, and subject to the following, the total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options granted under the Share Option Scheme of the Company must not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the Scheme (excluding any
options which have lapsed) (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”).

The Company may, from time to time, refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit by obtaining the approval of its
shareholders in general meeting. The Company may also seek separate approval by its shareholders in
general meeting for granting options beyond the renewed Scheme Mandate Limit provided the options
in excess of such limit are granted only to Participants specifically identified.

At at 31 March 2022, a total of 137,945,720 shares (representing 2.14% of the issued shares of the Company)
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total number of securities issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each Participant (including both exercised and outstanding options) in
any 12 month period must not exceed 1% (0.1% for any director, chief executive or substantial shareholder)
of the Shares in issue. Where any further grant of options to a Participant would result in the Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such person (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12 month period up to and including the date of such further grant
representing in aggregate over 1% (0.1% for any director, chief executive or substantial shareholder) of the
relevant class of securities in issue, such further grant must be separately approved by shareholders of the
Company in general meeting with such Participant and his associates abstaining from voting.

Price of Shares

The exercise price must be at least the higher of: (a) the closing price of a Share as stated in the daily quotations
sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business day; (b) the average closing price
of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of a Share.

Amount payable upon acceptance of the option
HK$1.00 is payable by each participant to the Company on acceptance of an offer of an option, which shall
be paid within 21 days from the date of offer.

(vii) Time of Exercise of Option

An option shall be exercisable at any time during a period to be notified by the directors of the Company to
each grantee, provided that no option shall be exercisable later than ten years after its date of grant. Unless
otherwise determined by the directors of the Company at their sole discretion, there is no performance target
which must be achieved before an option can be exercised.

(viii) The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The life of the Share Option Scheme is 10 years commencing on the Adoption Date.

No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme during the
year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: nil).

There is no outstanding option as at 31 March 2022 (2021: nil).
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36.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Change in liabilities arising from financing activities
The following table shows the Group changes in liabilities arising from financing activities during the year:

Lease Convertible Amount due to
liabilities Bonds bond a shareholder Total
HKS HKS HKS HKS HK$
(restated)
At 1 April 2020 13,360,390 69,229,000 - - 82,589,390
Changes in cash flows (9,756,238) (53,537,329 493,292,470 - 429,998,903
Non-cash changes
= Additions 11,008,808 . - - 11,008,808
~ Equity component on issue of
convertible bonds - - (554,296,709) - (554,296,709)
= Interest charged 562,518 4,262,500 1,642,648 - 6,467,666
— Exchange realignment 36,969 - - - 36,969
= Loss on initial recognition of
convertible bonds through
profit or loss - - 84,937,308 - 84,937,308
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 15,212,447 19,954,171 25,575,717 - 60,742,335
Changes in cash flows (9,076,897) (20,218,472) (15,000,000) 61,235 (44,234,134)
- Additions 2,074,086 - - - 2,074,086
- Exchange realignment 6,345 - - = 6,345
~ Interest charged 400,653 264,301 3,185,724 - 3,850,678

At 31 March 2022 8,616,634 - 13,761,441 61,235 22,439,310
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37. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position

2022 2021
Note HK$ HK$
(restated)
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 426,492 1,231,004
Right-of-use assets 4,935,007 11,571,869
Investments in subsidiaries 24,178,160 240,311,640
29,539,659 253,114,513
Current assets
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 3,534,158 3,235,795
Amounts due from subsidiaries (1) 1,199,961 850,347,697
Amount due from a shareholder - 15,535,030
Cash and cash equivalents 106,842,496 135,177,651
111,576,615 1,004,296,173
Current liabilities
Other payables 11,757,251 8,570,052
Bonds = 19,954,171
Convertible bond 13,761,441 11,814,276
Lease liabilities 3,161,466 6,647,147
Amounts due to a shareholder (1) 61,235 -
Amounts due to subsidiaries (1) 3,793,439 3,696,233
32,534,832 50,681,879
Net current assets 79,041,783 953,614,294
Total assets less current liabilities 108,581,442 1,206,728,807
Non current liabilities
Lease liabilities 1,883,290 5,044,756
Convertible bond - 13,761,441
1,883,290 18,806,197
NET ASSETS 106,698,152 1,187,922,610
Capital and reserves
Share capital 64,481,522 64,481,522
Reserves 42,216,630 1,123,441,088
TOTAL EQUITY 106,698,152 1,187,922,610

Note:

(1) The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand..
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37. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

38.

Movement of reserves of the Company

Capital  Convertible

Share  redemption bond Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
(restated)

At 1 April 2020 988,278,817 176,000 - (337,384,675 651,070,142
Total comprehensive loss for the year

(restated) - - - (81,925,763)  (81,925,763)

Issue of convertible bond (restated) - - 554,296,709 — 554,296,709

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 988,278,817 176,000 554,296,709 (419,310,438) 1,123,441,088

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - (1,081,224,458) (1,081,224,458)

At 31 March 2022 988,278,817 176,000 554,296,709 (1,500,534,896) 42,216,630

Nature and purpose of reserves
() Share premium
The application of the share premium account is governed by Section 40 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981.

(ii) Convertible bond reserve
The convertible bond reserve represents the equity component of convertible bond issued by the Company.
ltems included in convertible bond reserve will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primarily objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders, by pricing products and services commensurately
with the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position, and makes judgement to the capital structure in light of changes in economic
conditions.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net debt divided by adjusted capital. Net debt is calculated as total liabilities less cash and cash
equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all components of equity.
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38. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
The gearing ratio at 31 March 2022 and 2021 was as follows:

2022 2021
HK$ HK$
(restated)
Total liabilities 118,576,678 132,886,543

Less: Cash and cash equivalents

(203,861,996)

(251,236,954)

Net cash

(85,285,318)

(118,350,411)

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company

202,259,858

1,308,794,547

Gearing ratio

-42%

-9%

39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities (2021: Nil).

40. COMMITMENTS
As at 31 March 2022, the Group had no material capital commitments (2021: Nil).
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41.

42,

43.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to those related party transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with its related parties during the year.

(@) The remuneration of the Group’s key management personnel is disclosed in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2020, Wan Long Xing Ye (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) entered
into a supply agreement with Yunnan Baiyao Holdings Ltd (“Yunnan Baiyao”). Pursuant to the agreement,
Yunnan Baiyao and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Yunnan Baiyao Group”) shall sell/provide the
following to Wan Long Xing Ye: (i) supply of plant extracts; (i) provision of ancillary testing, logistics, import
and export and related services as part of the Group’s ordinary and usual course of business, commencing
from 1 May 2019 and up to 31 March 2022. Further details of these continuing connected transactions were
set out in the section headed “Connected Transactions” under the Report of the Directors.

The purchase of plant extracts from related companies amounted to nil for the year ended 31 March 2022
(2021: HK$11,267,694).

(c) The effective interest expense incurred by the convertible bond with Yunnan Baiyao Group amounted to
HK$3,185,724 during the year (2021: HK$1,642,648).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As refer to the announcement made by the Company on 11 October 2023, the Company’s English name changed
from “Ban Loong Holdings Limited” to “YNBY International Limited” and changed its Chinese name from “& &%
REBAR AR to “BHBIRBRR AR, with effect from 5 October 2023,

As refer to the announcement made by the Company on 13 October 2023, the Company resolved to change
its financial year end from 31 March to 31 December. The first financial year end date of the Company after the
change will be 31 December 2023 and its respective consolidated financial statements of the Company will be for
the period nine months from 1 April 2023 to 31 December 2023.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 5
December 2023.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Restated)
Revenue 767,607 910,082 1,162,154 1,216,714 179,578
Profit/(loss) before tax (184) 51,916 60,103 (563,146) (1,113,881)
Income tax expenses (1,310) (7,648) (10,534) (8,210) (3,439)
Profit/(loss) after tax (1,494) 44,268 49,569 (61,356) (1,117,320)
Profit/(loss) attributable to shareholders (1,466) 44,272 49,574 (61,359) (1,117,314)
Earnings/(loss) attributable to (0.03) 0.76 0.77 (0.95) (17.33)
shareholders per share HK cent HK cent HK cent HK cent HK cents
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Total assets 737,708 868,646 966,998 1,442,604 321,754
Current liabilities (181,108) (103,691) (161,222) (112,099) (115,186)
Total assets less current liabilities 556,595 764,955 805,776 1,330,505 206,568
Shareholders’ fund 556,132 764,030 799,809 1,308,795 202,260
Provision for reinstatement costs,
deferred tax liabilities, bonds and
convertible bonds 67,629 68,429 69,229 45,529 13,761
Funds employed 623,761 832,459 869,038 1,354,324 216,021
Return on average shareholders’ fund (%) (2.6) 5.8 6.2 4.7) (552.4)

Dividends per share = - = - -
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